
  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: August 13, 2020 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. 

PLACE: 5th Floor Commission Chambers 
 Jackson County Tower Building 
 120 W. Michigan Avenue 
 Jackson, Michigan 49201 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

1. Call to order and pledge of allegiance 

2. Public comment [3 MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of minutes 

Approval of the July 9, 2020, meeting minutes [ACTION] .........................................................................  3 

4. Approval of agenda 

Approval of the August 13, 2020, meeting agenda [ACTION] 

5. Request(s) for review, comment, and recommendation 

a. Consideration of township zoning amendment(s) 

(1) CZ | #20-08 | Leoni Township Rezoning [ACTION]  ......................................................................  7 

(2) CZ | #20-09 | Grass Lake Charter Township Amendment [ACTION]  .........................................  25 

(3) CZ | #20-10 | Summit Township Rezoning [ACTION]  ................................................................  77 

b. Consideration of master plan(s) – None 

c. Farmland and Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s) – None 

6. Other business 

a. Unfinished business 

Jackson County Master Plan [DISCUSSION]  .........................................................................................  93 

b. New business – None 

7. Public comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner comment 

9. Adjournment 

The next scheduled meeting of the Jackson County Planning Commission is September 10, 2020 

mailto:gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us


This page is intentionally blank. 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

MEETING MINUTES 

July 9, 2020 
5th Floor Commission Chambers ● Jackson County Tower Building ● Jackson, Michigan 

Members Present: Mr. Eric Beda, Industry and Economics; Mr. Timothy Burns, At Large; Mr. Roger 
Gaede, Environment; Mr. Russ Jennings, At Large; Mr. Corey Kennedy, Jackson 
County Board of Commissioners; Ms. Nancy Hawley, At Large; and Ms. Jennifer 
Morris, At Large 

 Members Absent: Mr. Ted Hilleary, Education, and Mr. Jim Videto, Agriculture 

 Liaisons Present: Mr. Grant Bauman, Principal Planner 

 Others Present: None. 

Item 1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance. The meeting was called to order at 6:01 p.m. by 
Chair Morris. Those in attendance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Staff introduced Commissioner Beda to his fellow Commissioners who then introduced 
themselves to him. 

Item 2. Public Comment. There was no public comment. 

Item 3. Approval of Minutes. A motion was made by Comm. Kennedy, and seconded by Comm. 
Burns, to approve the March 12, 2020, meeting minutes as presented. The motion was ap-
proved unanimously. 

Item 4. Approval of the Agenda. A motion was made by Comm. Hawley, and seconded by Comm. 
Gaede, to approve the July 9, 2020, meeting agenda as presented. The motion was ap-
proved unanimously. 

Item 5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation. 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s). None. 

b. Consideration of Master Plan(s). None. 

c. Farmland & Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s). None. 

Item 6. Other Business. 

a. Unfinished Business. 

Jackson County Master Plan.  Staff summarized his memos regarding urban and 

rural areas, farmland preservation, and social vulnerability and suggested that they be 
incorporated into Chapter 2 of the Master Plan. There was consensus among the Com-
missioners for this proposal. Staff will incorporate the information regarding urban and 
rural areas and social vulnerability immediately. Incorporation of the Farmland Preser-
vation information will be delayed until staff receives the GIS data from the American 
Farmland Trust.  



07/9/20 JCPC Minutes Page 2 
 

Commissioners then discussed the proposed goals and actions, using the suggestions 
provided by Comm. Hawley as a starting point. Comm. Morris went through the sugges-
tions and provided her comments. There was consensus among the Commissioners for 
the suggestions provided by Comm. Hawley, as modified by Comm. Morris, and staff 
summarized them: 

 Non-Motorized Facilities  

Action: Promotes Natural Beauty Roads. 

Note: The goal of the Natural Beauty Road program is to preserve in a natural, 
essentially undisturbed condition, certain county local roads having outstanding 
or unusual natural beauty by virtue of native vegetation and/or natural features 
within or associated with the right of way. These roads can be shared by both 
non-motorized and motorized transportation modes, offer connections be-
tween trail systems, and save county road maintenance dollars.  

Action: Recognize and promote the need to preserve and/or restore the Green-
ways system (diverse wetland areas, drainage ways, and forest lands) that helps 
assure high quality surface water, native species, wildlife habitat and movement 
along non-motorized routes.  

 Natural Resources 

Goal: Preserve the community’s scenic and rural character by minimizing the 
impacts of development on environmental features such as wetlands, wood-
lands, steep slopes, habitats, wildlife corridors, night sky, ridgelines, and scenic 
views. 

Action: Promote municipal planning commissions to protect the surface, 
groundwater resources and important habitat against the impacts of the adja-
cent land uses with natural buffer, and greenbelts along lakes and streams. 

Note: Shoreline protection measures that restore natural vegetation reduce pol-
luted runoff and overuse near shorelines can improve water quality as much as 
a costly municipal sewer system.  

 Form-Based Codes 

Action: Promote the use of form-based codes in developed areas to foster pre-
dictable built results and a high-quality public realm by using physical form (ra-
ther than separation of uses) as the organizing principle for the code. Form-
based codes offer an alternative to conventional zoning regulation.  

Example: Sutton's Bay and Traverse City use formed-based codes. 

 Dark Skies 

Goal: Discourage the use of poorly designed outdoor lighting that creates glare 
and unnecessary up-light pollution of the night sky.  

Action: Promote public facility's outdoor lighting to be changed to fully shielded 
LED 3,000K or less color temperature lights that meets the standards set by the 
International Dark-Sky Association. -Develop educational programs about the 
adverse effects that artificial lighting has on our environment, safety, energy 
consumption and our health. Example: In January 2020, Michigan's 2nd Dr. Law-
less Dark Sky Park located nine miles east of Cassopolis on Monkey Run Street, 



07/9/20 JCPC Minutes Page 3 
 

was open. Breathtaking views of the night sky are not the same today as in the 
past. We now strain to see a few stars visible to the naked eye. This is due to 
light pollution caused by poorly designed outdoor lights that not only mask the 
beauty of the night sky, but also cause negative effects to environmental and 
human health. 

 Renewable Energy  

Goal: Encourage the development of alternative or renewable energy sources 
such as solar, wind, and geothermal.  

Actions: Promote municipal planning commissions to protect adjacent proper-
ties and natural resources from potential adverse effects of large alternative en-
ergy systems. -Support future studies that may utilize less productive agricul-
tural lands in the development of alternative or renewable energy sources.  

Comm. Kennedy suggested that a goal and actions be added concerning commercial ma-
rihuana facilities. He proposed that the JCPC should map the locations of those facilities 
in order to assess their impact on communities (i.e., the costs associated with roads, 
utilities, police protection, social services, etc.). In 5-10 years, the JCPC can then use that 
data when making recommendations on future rezoning requests associated with com-
mercial marihuana facilities.  

Staff will incorporate his memos and the agreed upon goals and actions into the master 
plan. The Commission now has the information it needs to develop a future land use 
map. Staff will arrange a workshop for the next time the Commission is able to meet in 
public. 

b. New Business. 

Special Meetings.  Staff informed Commissioners of a request for a special meeting 

regarding a proposed rezoning in Leoni Township. It was discussed that although Section 
106(B) of the bylaws provides a procedure for calling a special meeting, the Commission 
has never employed that prerogative and the Chair will not call for one. Either staff or 
Chair Morris will inform the applicant that a special meeting will not be held if he con-
tacts them.  

 

Item 7. Public Comment. None. 

Item 8. Commissioner Comment. None. 

Comm. Gaede voiced his initial concern regarding meeting in person, but appreciated 
what staff did to prepare the meeting space. Comm. Kennedy thanked Comm. Beda for 
joining the JCPC. 

 

Item 9. Adjournment. The meeting was adjourned by Chair Morris at 7:55 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted by:  
Grant Bauman, Recording Secretary 



This page is intentionally blank. 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #20-08 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: August 13, 2020 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Leoni Township 

Request 
The applicant proposes rezoning the subject property to ‘heavy industrial (M)’ from ‘agricultural (AG)’. 

Purpose 
Rezoning to ‘M’ will allow the redevelopment of the subject property for “Marijuana Cultivation and 
Processing” (see the Background Information).1 

Location and Size of the Property 
The subject property (ID# 000-09-21-101-002-01) has an area of approximately 32 acres in Section 21 
(T2S-R1E) of Leoni Township (see Figure 1). 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The vacant Bertha Robinson Elementary School (East Jackson Community Schools) 
is located on the subject property (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form), which is also partially wooded 
(see Figure 5b). The Township assesses the surrounding properties for residential use although some of 
them are vacant (see Figure 2). 

Future Land Use – The Township’s master plan recommends ‘low-density residential’ uses to the east, 
south, and west of the subject parcel (see Figure 3). An ‘agricultural preservation area’ is located directly 
to the north. 

Current Zoning – The subject property is zoned ‘agricultural (AG)’ as are parcels to the north as well to 
the east and west (see Figure 4). Properties on the south side of Seymour Road are zoned ‘open space 
(OS) or ‘suburban residential (RS)’. 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – The Township did not provide this information (see the attached 
Zoning Worksheet Form). 

Public Road/Street Access – Seymour Road, a paved county primary, provides direct access to the 
subject property. 

Environmental Constraints –The Township did not identify any environmental constraints (see the 
attached Zoning Worksheet Form). 

                                                 
1 Please note that staff lists the proposed use for informational purposes only. Commissioners should not utilize it in making the 
rezoning decision. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the pro-
posed zoning designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 



CZC | #20-08 Page 2 
 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Leoni Township Planning Commission 
recommends disapproval of the proposed rezoning to ‘M’ (see the attached Zoning Amendment Form 
and other background information). 

Staff Analysis – Leoni Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes the 
following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

No. The Master Plan recommends ‘low density residential’ uses along that stretch of Seymour 

Road (see Figure 2). 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

No. Many of the ‘M’ district’s permitted and conditional uses have the potential to be incompat-

ible with uses allowed in the adjacent ‘open space (OS)’, agricultural (AG)’, and ‘suburban resi-
dential (RS)’ districts if the rezoning is approved. 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. Given that Seymour Road is a paved county primary, it should be able to handle the traffic 

associated with ‘M’ uses. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

No. There is no other ‘M’ zoning in the surrounding area, which causes the issue of ‘spot zoning’ 

to be a concern. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – The proposed ‘heavy manufacturing (M)’ rezoning does not conform to the 
Township’s future land use map nor does it meets all of the criteria upon which a rezoning should be 
considered. 

Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Jackson County Planning 
Commission to recommend DISAPPROVAL of the ‘heavy manufac-
turing (M)’ rezoning request to the Leoni Township Board (see the 
staff report). 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Leoni Township 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 



CZC | #20-08 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 



CZC | #20-08 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 



CZC | #20-08 Page 5 
 

Figure 5a 

USDA Aerial Photo 

 
Figure 5b 

USDA Aerial Photo 

 



JCPC Case #:
(ForJCPCUse Only) ZONING AMENDMENT FORM

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
(COORDINATING ZONING)

Return to:Jackson County Planning Commission •c/o Region 2 Planning Commission •120 W. Michigan Avenue •Jackson, Michigan 49201

Please submit the Planning Commission meeting minutes and any reports/exhibits the Commission used to makes its recommendation with thisform. Use
a separateformfor each proposed zoning change. Please include a legal description/ survey with rezoning requests in addition to the Parcel ID Number.
A copy of thisform with the JCPC recommendation will be mailed back to the Clerk, who will return a copy to the JCPC with the Township Board Action.

L TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION submits the following proposed zoning change to the JacksonTHE
County Planning Commission for its review, comment, and recommendation:
(ANSWER EITHER A or B)
A. DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGE (REZONING):

(Provide the legal and popular property descriptions, the Parcel ID Number(s), the number of acres, and the section(s) in which the
property is located. Attach additional sheets if more space is needed. Attach a map showing all changes and additions.)

OOP - CPl ~ <3s I— ) £> ( ~~ - <s> I 3tr~7 Qt-res

t'cul ifthD1. The above described property has a proposed zoning change FROM
4Ve<x\> a^~ri'H ) ZONE.ZONE TO I4A-

/T n J p VoC rS SZITVTTINJcrVx£Yk Vs V %i vT2. PURPOSE OF PROPOSED CHANGE: \ Y i \ LKCLY\ai
B. ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT:

The following Article(s) and Section(s) is amended or altered: ARTICLE
The NEW SECTION reads as follows: (Attach additional sheets if more space is needed.)

SECTION

._\ u\ day yC. PUBLIC HEARING on the above amendment was held on: month
D. NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING was published/mailed on the following date: month day ^ 1

year
year

(Notice must be provided at leastfifteen days prior to the public hearing.)
E. THE NEWSPAPER (having general circulation in Township) carrying the NOTICE:

The PROPOSED ZONING AMENDMENT described herein was duly considered by the Township Planning Commission and will be
forwarded to the Township Board with a recommendatiomfo O APPROVE or0DISAPPROVE.

VJ6- ^ L^Chair or Q Secretary

J-hg rwtP

(enter date)

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION (JCPC) ACTION:
1. Date of Meeting: month
2. The JCPC herewith certifies receipt of the proposed amendment on the above date and:

I | Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change

I | Recommends DISAPPROVAL of the zoning change for the reasons stated in the attached letter.
I | Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change with comments, as stated in the attached letter.
L]Takes NO ACTION.

13day year

, Recording Secretary (enter date)
TOWNSHIP BOARD ACTION:

1. Date of Meeting: month
2. The

day year

Township Board herewith certifies that a legally constituted meeting held on the above date and that
the proposed amendment Q PASSED,Q DID NOT PASS, or was Q REFERRED ANEW to the Township Planning Commission.

Township Clerk
Revised:12/19/14



JCPC Case #:
(For JCPC Use Only) REZONING WORKSHEET FORM

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
(COORDINATING ZONING)

Return to:Jackson County Planning Commission •c/o Region 2 Planning Commission •120 W. Michigan Avenue •Jackson, Michigan 49201
Please submit with the "Zoning Amendment Form" for a district boundary change (rezoning), not a text amendment.

LTownship of:

Township official we may contact:
i

Applicant: G

Township Case #:_
Phone #:( ) *7*3U> - &tP)ClC>
Phone #: (

( JA_ )( A-4- )

QuarterSection(s): QNW QNE QSW QSE
Rezoning Request:

Property Location:

From: To:

Section(s):

t̂ i-Yes | | No (Please do not use only the Parcel ID Number)Legal Description and/or Survey Map/Tax Map (please attach)

Parcel Size (ifmore than one parcel, label "A" - "Z"): ‘3L0 (Xcxr̂ ty

J&YesPlease attach location map

What is the existing use of the site?

No

Cm

ffW: v\ c\
\ VWhat is the proposed use of the site? 60

What are the surrounding uses(e.g.: agriculture, single-family residential, highway commercial,etc.)?
North:

East:

What are the surrounding Zoning Districts?

North: (

East: (

What is the suggested use of the site on the Township's Land Use Plan map?

Is municipal water currently available? Q Yes Q No Will it be made available? Q Yes Q No If yes, when?

Is municipal sewer currently available? Q Yes Q No Will it be made available? Q Yes Q No If yes, when?

Does the site have access to a public street or road? [j/] Yes Q No If yes, name

Are there any known environmental constraints on the site? Q Yes No

] Wetland(s) Q Floodplain(s) Q Brownfield(s) Q Soil(s) Q Other (please specify )

South:

9~-e JercV\West:

asRS South: (

West: (as

izj> .4

Please attach the minutes of the Planning Commission.
T7| Yes, the minutes are attached. Q No, the minutes are not attached.
Please attach copies of any reports, exhibits or other documented provided to the Planning Commission.
] Yes, copies of documentation are attached. No, copies of documentation are not attached.

Please attach any public comments, letters, or petitions.

I | Yes, public comments are attached. i | No,public comments are not attached.

Please include any additional information or comments as an attachment.
Revised:12/19/14



STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION TO REZONE LAND

OBJECTIV Growth Michigan, LLC (“Applicant”) is under contract to acquire the property
located at 5400 Seymour Road, Jackson, Michigan (the “Subject Property”), and seeks to rezone
the Subject Property from Agricultural (AG) to Heavy Industrial (M). Applicant seeks rezoning in
order to facilitate a repurposing of the Subject Property from vacant, dilapidated, unoccupied
former school site, currently considered an environmental facility, to a state-licensed facility for
cultivating and processing marijuana products.

1. Overview of Subject Property

A survey is being furnished with this application depicting the Subject Property as well as
the existing building on site. The Subject Property consists of a large, 31.7-acre parcel that abuts
Seymour Road. A former school building is situated in the central eastern portion of the property,
with long setbacks from adjacent properties. The few buildings that are in the vicinity of the
Subject Property are also set back substantially from the Subject Property and the existing building.
Overall, the Subject Property is situated in a relatively secluded area with only a few, low-density
properties nearby, and is ideal for the proposed use.

Current Zonins and Use of Land and Proposed Rezone2.

The Subject Property and the properties surrounding the Subject Property on the north side
of Seymour Road are all currently zoned Agricultural. Applicant is requesting that the Subject
Property be rezoned to Heavy Industrial.

Applicant’s proposed use will consist of the cultivation and processing of plant products.
By its nature (and under most zoning ordinances), this would be considered an agricultural use.
But under the specific Leoni Township adult use marihuana ordinance that applies here, marijuana
grower and processing establishments are only allowed in Industrial-zoned districts. Accordingly,
the Applicant is requesting that the property be rezoned to industrial use.

The proposed rezoning is consistent with the goals, policies, and land uses in Leoni
Township. The existing, vacant school facility does not generate any tax revenue for the Township,
may create a potential nuisance because it is unoccupied, and could fall into further disrepair if it
is not repurposed and reoccupied. There are few (if any) approved uses in the Agricultural district
that the Subject Property would be suitable for, as it is considered an environmental facility due to
the Underground Storage Tank (UST) leak and asbestos, and the property is a relatively small,
wooded parcel, with registered wetlands, that is not suitable for typical farming activities. It is also
not attractive for residential use, as any residential purchaser would need to bear the substantial
and insurmountable costs of tearing down the existing building before constructing any home at
the Subject Property. The Subject Property also has an additional 200-gallon UST tank for boiler
fuel, that may require removal and/or remediation.

Given its relatively secluded location, the site as it is presently situated is ideal for
Applicant’s proposed use. The existing building can be readily repurposed for that use, as it
provides ample indoor space for the proposed operations, as well as established parking and drive

1



facilities. Applicant’s design for the site will allow for discrete operations, with minimal (if any
impacts) on neighboring properties. Furthermore, Applicant intends to utilize carbon
scrubbers/filters to mitigate any and all potential smell from the cultivation and processing of
marijuana. Additionally, Applicant would be willing to plant trees or erect a fence along
neighboring property line to the West in order to reduce visibility, should landowner desire.

CONCLUSION

The proposed rezoning is necessary for the repurposing of the existing site, and the change
will not be detrimental to the public welfare, or the property of other persons located in the vicinity.
For all of the reasons stated above, Applicant respectfully requests that the Township rezone the
Subject Property from Agricultural (AG) to Heavy Industrial (M).

20203195-1

2







Leoni Township Office
913 Fifth Street

Michigan Center, Michigan 49254
PHONE: (517) 764-4694 FAX: (517) 764-1380

Leonitownship.com

PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES
July 7 8, 2020

The Leoni Township Planning Commission held a meeting Wednesday, July 7lh 8^, 2020 @ 6:00pm via
the Zoom.us conferencing suite.

Meeting opened to call of the Chair: 6:00pm

Members Present: J. Southworth, B. Carroll, L. Maurer, B. Lester, D. Helmlinger, V. Beckwith and K. Cole
Members absent: -
Persons in attendance: 26 (count from Zoom)

Purpose of Planning Commission read by V. Beckwith

Motion by L. Southworth, supported by K. Cole to approve the agenda as written,
Voice vote
Ayes: D. Helmlinger, K. Cole, L. Maurer, J. Southworth, B. Carroll, and V. Beckwith
Nay:

Motion Carried via Unanimous Voice Vote

Motion by B. Carroll, supported by D. Helmlinger to approve the minutes from 3/4/2020 with the
addition of the Letter to the Trustees.
Voice vote
Ayes: D. Helmlinger, L. Maurer, J. Southworth, B. Carroll and V. Beckwith
Nay: K. Cole

Motion Carried via Roll Call

Public Comment: Open at 6:08pm
Closed at 6:16pm

NEW BUSINESS: Parcel #000-09-21-101-002-01
East Jackson Public Schools
5400 Seymour Rd Jackson, MI 49201
REZONE

Public Hearing: Open at 6:18pm
Closed at 6:47pm

Motion by J. Southworth, supported by V. Beckwith to rezone the property at 5400 Seymour Rd
(Parcel #000-09-21-101-002-01) to Heavy Industrial (M).
Voice vote



Ayes:
Nay: D. Helmlinger, K. Cole, B. Lester, L. Maurer, J. Southworth, B. Carroll and V. Beckwith

Motion Failed via Roll Call

Public Comment: Open at 7:00 pm
Closed at 7:00 pm

Motion to adjourn by J. Southworth, supported by K. Cole
Motion Carried via Unanimous Voice Vote

Adjourn 7:01 pm

Next meeting: July 15, 2020



Leoni Township Office
913 Fifth Street Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694 FAX: (517) 764-1106
www.leonitownship.com

DATE OF APPLICATION: 6 / 3 / 2020 APPLICATION #:

APPLICATION FOR ZONING CHANGE or CONDITIONAL USE

TO: PLANNING COMMISSION, LEONI TOWNSHIP
I (We) Hereby make application with the Township of Leoni to:
( ) Add to or change the text of the Ordinance.
( ) Change the district boundaries.
( X ) Re-Zone the property to another classification.
( ) Conditional Use.
( ) Home Occupation.
( ) Extending Residential Non-Conforming Use.

1 . Applicants Name: £XgT
2. Address of Property Involved: 5400 Seymour Rd. Jackson. MI 49201
3. Legal Description of Property: Parcel ID: 000-09-21 -101 -002-01

Phone: 7C- V

4. The above property is presently zoned: Agricultural District (AG)
5. I wish the zoning to be changed from: Agricultural District (AG)
6. I wish the boundaries to be changed from:
7. I wish the change in the text from section:
8. The proposed use(s) and nature(s) of operation is/are: Marijuana cultivation and processing

to: Heavy Industrial District (M)
to:

NOTE: Attach an ACCURATE SURVEY DRAWING of said property drawn to scale showing existing and proposed building and
structures, the type thereof and their uses, and the distances from property lines.

I CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE INFORMATION IS TRUE AND THAT I AM THE OWNER OF THE PROPERTY.

I GRANT PERMISSION FOR MEMEBERS OF THE LEONI TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION AND/OR TOWNSHIP
BOARD TO ENTER THE ABOVE PROPERTY FOR THE PURPOSE OF GATHERING INFORMATION RELATED TO
TPIIS APPLICATION. (NOTE TO APPLICANT: This will not affect any decision on your application.)

IN CASE OF CANCELLATION OR FAILURE TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, 1 UNDERSTAND THAT ALL FEES
WILL BE FORFEITED.

AtFEE: $1000.00
'SIGNATURE OF OWNER APPLICANTZoning change: $550.00

Special meeting: $450.00

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: Having review the submitted data, hereby recommend the Township Board
( ) Approve ( ) Disapprove the Application for the following reasons (or with these restrictions)

CHAIRMAN:DATE:
SIGNATURE

TOWNSHIP BOARD OF TRUSTEES: Having reviewed the submitted data, hereby ( ) APPROVE ( ) DISAPROVE the
application for the following reasons:

CLERK:DATE:
SIGNATURE 8/15/12



Owner Name
Owner Address

EAST JACKSON PUBLIC SCHOOLS
5400 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, Ml 49201

2018
$0.00
$0.00

2019
$0.00
$0.00

2020
$0.00
$0.00

Taxable Value
Assessed Value

Homestead
Parcel Address

0
5400 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, Ml 49201
704 - SCHOOLS
Active
31.7
Leoni
Leoni
EAST JACKSON SCHOOL
1637-0775

Tax Description:
BEG IN W 1/8 LN OF SEC 21 T2S R1E AT CEN OF SEYMOUR RD TH NALG
SD 1/8 LN TO N SEC LN TH WLYALG N SEC LN 710 FTTH S 950.04 FTTH E
121 FTTH S 425.22 FT TO CEN LN OF SEYMOUR RD TH NELYALG CEN OF
SD RD 707.28 FT TO BEG. ALSO BEG AT NW COR OF SEC 21 TH
N89°33'37"E 622.45 FT ALG N LN OF SEC 21 TH S00°12'43"W 962.62 FT
(950.04 FT OF REC) PAR WITH W 1/8 LN OF SEC 21 TH N89°12’01"E 121 FT
TH S00°12'43"W 6.96 FTTH S89°12'01"W 743.28 FT TO W LN OF SEC 21 TH
N00°11'54"E 957 FT ALG W LN OF SEC 21 TO A FIRE CLAY REFERENCE
POST PREVIOUSLY ERRONEOUSLY USED AS NW COR OF SEC 21 TH
N00°11'54"E 16.50 FT ALG W LN OF SEC 21 TO BEG.SECTION 21 T2S R1E
COMBINED ON 10/017/2000 FROM 000-09-21-101-002-00 & PART OF 000-09-
21-101-001-00

Property Class
Status
Acreage
Gov't Unit
Tax Unit
School District
Liber/Page

WARNING: Displayed boundaries are NOT SURVEY GRADE and may not reflect legal property description.
The intent of this map is to allow easy access and visual display of government information and services.

Every reasonable effort is made to ensure the accuracy of this map and data; nevertheless, errors may occur.
This parcel data last updated:June 16, 2020



LEONI TOWNSHIP OFFICE
913 FIFTH ST

MICHIGAN CENTER MI 49254
517-764-4694 PHONE 517-764-1106 FAX

NOT ICE
The Leoni Township Planning Commission will hold a ZOOM Public Hearing,
Wednesday, July 8, 2020 at 6:00 P.M. in the Leoni Township Meeting Hall, 913
Fifth St., Michigan Center, Michigan, 49254.

“This meeting is being held by ZOOM because of the COVID-19 State of
Emergency and in conformance with Executive Orders issued by the
Governor of the State of Michigan.”

Please visit the Leoni Township website at http://www.leonitownship.coin
prior to the meeting for instructions regarding remote access and any updates
that may be needed due to COVID-19 requirements.

000-09-21-101-002-01
East Jackson Public Schools
5400 Seymour Rd.

Purpose of hearing: Rezone

Legal Description: BEG IN W 1/8 LN OF SEC 21 T2S R1E AT CEN OF SEYMOUR RD
TH N ALG SD 1/8 LN TO N SEC LN TH WLY ALG N SEC LN 710 FT TH S 950.04 FT TH E
121 FT TH S 425.22 FT TO CEN LN OF SEYMOUR RD TH NELY ALG CEN OF SD RD
707.28 FT TO BEG. ALSO BEG AT NW COR OF SEC 21 TH N89°33'37"E 622.45 FT ALG N
LN OF SEC 21 TH S00°12'43"W 962.62 FT (950.04 FT OF REC) PAR WITH W 1/8 LN OF
SEC 21 TH N89°12'01"E 121 FT TH S00°12'43"W 6.96 FT TH S89°12'01"W 743.28 FT TOW
LN OF SEC 21 TH N00°11'54"E 957 FT ALG W LN OF SEC 21 TO A FIRE CLAY
REFERENCE POST PREVIOUSLY ERRONEOUSLY USED AS NW COR OF SEC 21 TH
N00°11'54"E 16.50 FT ALG W LN OF SEC 21 TO BEG. SECTION 21 T2S R1E COMBINED
ON 10/017/2000 FROM 000-09-21-101-002-00 & PART OF 000-09-21-101-001-00

Kerry Pickett, Clerk



000-09-20-226-007-07
NALL BRADLEY E REV LVG TR
5080 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-21-152-002-01
SCHELL GERALD D & DELORES A
5311 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-21-101-001-01
BARR ERROL J
5312 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201-9686

000-09-17-400-002-00
TUCKER THOMAS W ETAL
POBOX 1253
JACKSON, MI 49204

000-09-21-152-003-03
PLUMB MARY JANE
5315 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-20-226-006-01
NALL BRADLEY & NALL LAURI L TRUSTS
5080 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-21-151-002-01
GRIFFITH FREDRICK C & FILLIPPA M
5200 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-21-151-002-02
SCHAUER LEONARD C JR & HICKS CRYSTA
5198 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201-9684

000-09-21-152-003-02
SMITH JAMES G & MARGIE L ETAL
5405 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-21-126-002-03
ALLEY JACOB
5600 SEYMOR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-21-176-001-02
ISENHOUR STEVEN L & MICHELLE L
9510 TINKER CT
BURKE, VA 22015

000-09-21-126-002-01
ALLEY JACOB
5600 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-21-101-002-01
EAST JACKSON PUBLIC SCHOOLS
5400 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-16-351-001-15
MORRISSEY MATTHEW W & REBECCA TRUST
5654 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201

000-09-16-351-001-14
COLLINS TIMOTHY A
5674 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON, MI 49201



This page is intentionally blank. 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/ 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #20-09 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: August 13, 2020 

 Proposal: Mining and Extraction Operations in Grass Lake Charter Township 

Background Information 
Proposed amendments to the Grass Lake Charter Township Zoning Ordinance would regulate 
Mining and Extraction Operations by: 

 Adding a definition regarding ‘Mining and Extraction Operations' to Section 2.13 (Defini-
tions “M”) of Chapter 2 (Definitions and Illustrations of Terms) and 

 Replacing the current Subsection HH (Removal and Processing of Topsoil, Stone, Rock, 
Water, Sand, Gravel, Lime or Other Soil or Mineral Resources) of Section 14.07 (Special 
Land Use Specific Requirements) of Chapter 14 (Special Land Uses) with a new Subsec-
tion HH (Mining and Extraction Operations). 

Staff Analysis and Advisement 

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MZEA) 
Currently, the Grass Lake Charter Township Zoning Ordinance only allows the “Removal and 
Processing of Topsoil, Stone, Rock, Water, Sand, Gravel, Lime or Other Soil or Mineral Re-
sources” as a special land use in the Agricultural (AG) and Single-Family Residential (R-1) dis-
tricts. The proposed amendments do not alter this limitation. However, the MZEA limits the 
ability of local governments to regulate the extraction of valuable natural resources (i.e., mining 
and extraction). Specifically, Section 205 (MCL 125.3205) states: 

Sec. 205. 

. . . 

(2) A county or township shall not regulate or control the drilling, completion, or opera-
tion of oil or gas wells or other wells drilled for oil or gas exploration purposes and shall 
not have jurisdiction with reference to the issuance of permits for the location, drilling, 
completion, operation, or abandonment of such wells. 

(3) An ordinance shall not prevent the extraction, by mining, of valuable natural resources 
from any property unless very serious consequences would result from the extraction 



CZ #20-09 Page 2 

 

of those natural resources. Natural resources shall be considered valuable for the pur-
poses of this section if a person, by extracting the natural resources, can receive reve-
nue and reasonably expect to operate at a profit. 

(4) A person challenging a zoning decision under subsection (3) has the initial burden of 
showing that there are valuable natural resources located on the relevant property, 
that there is a need for the natural resources by the person or in the market served by 
the person, and that no very serious consequences would result from the extraction, 
by mining, of the natural resources. 

(5) In determining under this section whether very serious consequences would result 
from the extraction, by mining, of natural resources, the standards set forth in Silva v 
Ada Township, 416 Mich 153 (1982), shall be applied and all of the following factors 
may be considered, if applicable: 

(a) The relationship of extraction and associated activities with existing land uses. 

(b) The impact on existing land uses in the vicinity of the property. 

(c) The impact on property values in the vicinity of the property and along the pro-
posed hauling route serving the property, based on credible evidence. 

(d) The impact on pedestrian and traffic safety in the vicinity of the property and along 
the proposed hauling route serving the property. 

(e) The impact on other identifiable health, safety, and welfare interests in the local 
unit of government. 

(f) The overall public interest in the extraction of the specific natural resources on the 
property. 

(6) Subsections (3) to (5) do not limit a local unit of government's reasonable regulation of 
hours of operation, blasting hours, noise levels, dust control measures, and traffic, not 
preempted by part 632 of the natural resources and environmental protection act, 
1994 PA 451, MCL 324.63201 to 324.63223. However, such regulation shall be reason-
able in accommodating customary mining operations. 

JCPC staff interprets that those MZEA regulations do not allow local governments to prohibit 
mining/extraction in any zoning district but that making it a special/conditional use or requiring 
site plan review is still permissible.* Consequently, staff advises that that Grass Lake Township 
also amend Chapters 5-12 of the Grass Lake Charter Township Zoning Ordinance to make ‘Min-
ing and Extraction Operations' a special land use in all zoning districts. 

Proposed Amendments 
This report displays the proposed amendments of Section 2.13 and Section 14.07(HH) as they 
will (generally) appear in the zoning ordinance (if adopted), and provides comments aimed at 
strengthening the regulations: 

                                                 
* See the attached MSU-E Land Use Series report for examples of other ‘Restrictions on Zoning Authority’. 

Commented [GB21]: Comments will be provided in this fash-

ion. 



CZ #20-09 Page 3 

 

CHAPTER 2 
DEFINITIONS AND ILLUSTRATIONS OF TERMS 

. . . 

Section 2.13 DEFINITIONS “M” 

. . . 

Mining and Extraction Operations. Any excavation operation for the purpose of searching for, 
removing, or processing peat, gravel, sand, clay, earth, or other soils, or marble, stone, slate, or 
other valuable natural resource in excess of five-hundred (500) cubic yards in any calendar year, 
including the overburdening, storage or transporting of such items on a mining and extraction 
site, or the reclamation of the site after removal or excavation of such items, but not including 
an oil or gas well. The following activities are not mining and extraction operations and are ex-
empt from the special land use permit requirements of this Ordinance: 

A. Excavation approved by a governmental body of competent jurisdiction in conjunction 
with the installation or maintenance of publicly owned or operated utilities, drainage 
facilities, roads, or other publicly owned or operated improvements, where the excava-
tion is limited to the site of the public utility or improvement. 

B. The ordinary and necessary grading of land for the tilling and cultivation of soils to grow 
crops or excavation in conjunction with a farming operation conducted following gener-
ally accepted agricultural management practices. 

C. Normal lawn and landscaping installation and maintenance provided that the existing 
natural grade is not raised or lowered by more than twelve (12) inches over an area en-
compassing twenty-five percent (25%) or more of a parcel. 

D. Any excavation of material that will not involve transporting the materials outside the 
property where they were extracted. 

E. Excavations for ponds constructed for private use of property owners provided the pond 
will not be larger than five acres and material will not be removed from the site. 

F. Excavation within a public right-of-way, within public roads or drainage easements. 

G. Excavation that by its nature is of limited scope and duration and that is undertaken pri-
marily for the immediate use and development of the land excavated, such as for pur-
poses of building construction, access way construction, septic tanks, swimming pools, 
graves, and other approved uses under this Ordinance. 

. . . 

CHAPTER 14 
SPECIAL LAND USES 

. . . 

Section 14.07 SPECIAL LAND USE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS 

Commented [GB22]: Consider citing/referring to Section205 of 

the MZEA (MCL 125.3205), which pertains to mining/extraction 

and the concept of ‘vary serious consequences. 



CZ #20-09 Page 4 

 

. . . 

HH. MINING AND EXTRACTION OPERATIONS 

1. Purpose: The Township recognizes that sand, gravel, and other valuable natural re-
sources within the Township have beneficial uses when extracted from the earth. The 
Township further understands that mining and extraction operations have the poten-
tial to impose very serious consequences, as the term is used in Section 205 of the 
Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, on township residents and visitors if not appropriately 
regulated. This section regulates mining and extraction operations to promote utiliza-
tion of these resources in a manner that is compatible with surrounding land uses and 
to prevent very serious consequences related to impacts on property values, pedes-
trian and traffic safety, the environment, other land uses, and other identifiable 
health, safety, and welfare interests.  

2. Permitting 

a. Permit Required. It is unlawful to conduct a mining and extraction operation with-
out obtaining a special land use permit and meeting all requirements of the Town-
ship Zoning Ordinance.  

b. Length of Permit. A mining and extraction operation special land use permit shall 
be issued for five (5) years. The Planning Commission must annually review special 
land use permits for mining and extraction operations according to the Annual 
Compliance Review described below. No renewal of any special land use permit 
for a mining and extraction operation shall allow such use to continue for more 
than five (5) years without submission of a new special land use permit application 
containing all information required by Township Zoning Ordinance. 

c. Annual Compliance Review. As a condition of a special land use permit for a min-
ing and extraction operation, the Township shall annually inspect the operation 
for compliance with the Township Zoning Ordinance and conditions of a special 
land use permit before renewing a special land use permit. This review shall con-
sider, but is not limited to, (1) permit holder disclosure of all violations of local, 
state, and federal laws and regulations by a mining and extraction operation and 
(2) a physical inspection of a mining and extraction operation for compliance with 
Township Ordinances, special land use permits, site plans, zoning permits, and lo-
cal, state, and federal laws and regulations by the Township Zoning Enforcement 
Officer or any other individual designated to inspect a site by the Township. Any 
existing Special Land Use permit may be invalidated, revoked or terminated early 
based on findings of non-compliance uncovered during the Annual Compliance 
Review pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance.  

d. Renewal Report. Before renewing a special land use permit for a mining and ex-
traction operation, and 60 days prior to each annual anniversary of a special land 
use permit, a permit holder must submit to the Planning Commission for approval 

Commented [GB23]: Consider providing the MCL citation 

(MCL 125.3205) 

Commented [GB24]: This provision is great as long as the 

Township has the resources and inclination to follow through with 

the annual requirement. If not, consider removing the ‘Annual Com-

pliance Review’ and the associated annual ‘Renewal Report’. 



CZ #20-09 Page 5 

 

a report of the land use’s operations necessary for the Annual Compliance Review. 
This Renewal Report shall include: 

i. Materials related to all complaints received by the permit holder and all permit 
holder actions to resolve such complaints;  

ii. Copies of all permits obtained and renewed during the past year from local, 
state, and federal governmental entities related to the operation of a mining 
and extraction operation; 

iii. Materials related to all inspection reports conducted on a mining and extrac-
tion operation; 

iv. Information outlining all materials, including aggregates, imported to a mining 
and extraction operation; 

v. A description of the expected future extraction operations and locations of 
future extraction operations; 

vi. A description of restoration and reclamation activities performed to date and 
plans for reclamation activities in the future;  

vii. Proof of a financial guarantee and liability insurance compliant with this Ordi-
nance;  

viii. Information related to any changes in or withdrawal of any permits required 
by this Ordinance; and  

ix. Any information reasonably requested by the Planning Commission to deter-
mine if a permit shall be renewed. 

e. Inspections. Mining and extraction operations are subject to site inspections as 
determined by the Township. As a condition of obtaining a special land use permit, 
applicants and permit holders are deemed to have authorized these inspections 
and will cooperate fully in making the mining and extraction operations available 
for inspections. If violations of the conditions of the Special Land Use permit are 
determined based on the inspection, the Special Land Use permit may be invali-
dated, revoked or terminated pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance. 

f. Lot Size. Mining and extractions operations shall occur on a parcel of with a mini-
mum lot size of 10 acres. 

3. Application for Special Land Use Permit for Mining and Extraction Operation 

a. Applicants who apply for a special land use permit for a mining and extraction 
operation must, in addition to all the information required for a special land use 
permit application (12 copies of the full application shall be provided), include the 
following information: 

i. Site Plan: Applicants must submit a preliminary and final site plan under the 
Zoning Ordinance. Site plans for mining and extraction operations include the 

Commented [GB25]: Consider removing the unnecessary ‘of’. 



CZ #20-09 Page 6 

 

following information in addition to the information requirements in Chapter 
15 of the Zoning Ordinance: 

1. The proposed excavation area; 

2. A list of any deed restrictions and easements of record appearing in the 
chain of title; 

3. The location and size of sediment ponds, drainage diversions, and offsite 
discharge points; and 

4. The location of permanent site equipment. 

ii. Hydrogeological Report: 

1. A Hydrogeological Report is required if an applicant plans on creating a 
lake greater than five (5) acres after extraction operations or in cases 
where a proposed mining and extraction operation plans to extract mate-
rial from below the water table and requires the use of dewatering. If re-
quired, applicants must submit a Hydrogeological Report by a registered 
professional engineer, certified geologist, or other qualified individual se-
lected and/or approved by the Planning Commission, regarding hydrogeo-
logical impacts from a proposed mining and extraction operation. This re-
port shall include the items listed below: 

a. Evidence that shows an applicant will obtain all necessary permits re-
quired by local, state, and/or federal governmental agencies including 
all permits required by the Michigan Department of Environment, 
Great Lakes, and Energy or its successor agency. 

b. Test pumping data at the proposed site and computations used to as-
sess any potential site dewatering impacts;  

c. Information regarding the direction and rate of groundwater move-
ment and how this movement will be impacted by a proposed mining 
and extraction operation; 

d. Information identifying the water up-gradient and down-gradient;  

e. Information identifying aquifer characteristics when an applicant plans 
to use soil dewatering or plans to extend extraction operations within 
20 feet of the highest recorded groundwater level; 

f. Information discussing any impacts on surrounding water supply wells; 

g. Identification and locations of any proposed monitoring wells that are 
consistent with all local, state, and federal laws and regulations; 

h. Information documenting the effect of the proposed operation on the 
surrounding area’s watershed; 

i. Information documenting the operation’s effect on any wetlands; 

Commented [GB26]: Consider defining ‘dewatering’. 



CZ #20-09 Page 7 

 

j. Should an applicant create any water bodies; information outlining the 
life-span of such bodies of water, the depth of such bodies, and any 
impacts they will have on surrounding land used; and  

k. Any other information requested by the Planning Commission reason-
ably related to whether to grant a special land use permit. 

iii. Extraction Master Plan: Applicants must submit an extraction master plan that 
assesses the operation’s impact on natural features of the property and out-
lines their proposed operation by including: 

1. A statement outlining compatibility with surrounding land uses; 

2. Information describing proposed excavation methods, including projected 
depths and drainage methods; 

3. A plan to control the impacts of dust from the operation; 

4. Information regarding the amount of material and types of material to be 
taken from the site; 

5. Information regarding the market’s demand for the materials to be ex-
tracted from the site; 

6. Information regarding proposed clearance methods and debris clean-up; 

7. Information regarding how an applicant plans to control erosion; 

8. Information regarding the control or storage of ponded or surface water; 

9. A statement outlining the type of mobile and nonmobile equipment to be 
used at the site, including, but not limited to, available manufacturer spec-
ifications regarding noise levels, size, height, and operational characteris-
tics; 

10. The location of the proposed haul routes including where traffic will enter 
and exit the proposed mining and extraction operation; 

11. A vertical aerial photograph enlarged to a scale equal to one (1) inch equal 
two hundred (200) feet, which identifies site boundaries, land uses within 
one half (1/2) mile of the parcel, and proposed locations of all extraction 
activities and phases; 

12. Proposed plans regarding fencing and signage; 

13. Information relating to the time, duration, phasing, and proposed work 
schedule of the total project; 

14. Identification of all materials, including fill imported to the site and its ne-
cessity to a mining and extraction operation; 

15. Information discussing necessary permits from any local, state, and/or fed-
eral governmental entity necessary to conduct the proposed operation 



CZ #20-09 Page 8 

 

and how the applicant intends to obtain or has obtained the necessary per-
mits. An applicant must provide a sworn affidavit that they will obtain and 
comply with all necessary permits from governmental agencies and pro-
vide a copy of the permits to the Planning Commission for review, before 
operating a mining and extraction operation;  

16. Information related to proposed drainage systems, settling ponds, and re-
tention ponds as appropriate; 

17. A description of the area from which extraction will take place in the first 
year of operation and likewise for each successive year to completion; and 

18. Topography information based on United States Geological Survey (USGS) 
or North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) data for the site and 100 feet of 
adjoining property showing: 

a. Existing and Proposed Contours at two (2) foot intervals for property 5 
acres and greater; 

b. Existing and Proposed Contours at one (1) foot intervals for property 1 
to 5 acres; and 

c. Existing and Proposed Contours at one (1) foot intervals and spot ele-
vations for property under 1 acre. 

19. Any other information deemed reasonably required by the Planning Com-
mission to determine whether a permit should be issued or not. 

iv. Land Reclamation Plan: Applicants must include a land reclamation plan pre-
pared by a professional engineer or other qualified professional, selected 
and/or approved by the Planning Commission, that identifies, at the minimum, 
the following: 

1. The anticipated future use of the restored land; 

2. Steps to be taken to preserve topsoil; 

3. The placement of a three (3) inch layer of arable topsoil over the excavated 
area, except exposed rock surfaces or areas lying below natural water 
level, in accordance with the proposed reclamation use; 

4. Identification of all structures and equipment that must be removed from 
the premises upon completion of the extraction activity other than those 
necessary for reclamation; 

5. The restoration of the site topography so that no gradients in the disturbed 
area are steeper than a slope of 1:4; 

6. Identification of fill and soils to be used. Fill and soils must be of sufficient 
quality to be well-drained and non-swelling and cannot be overly com-
pacted. To the extent the reclamation plan involves the construction or 

Commented [GB27]: Are these the only acceptable data 

sources. Jackson County GIS also has a topo layer at 2-ft contour in-

tervals. 

Commented [GB28]: Should the requirement be limited to spot 

elevations? As written, more is required of lots under 1 acre than lots 
1-5 acres in size. What is the justification for requiring 1-foot con-

tour intervals on smaller lots? 

Commented [GB29]: Consider adding a registered landscape ar-

chitect to the listing of preapproved professionals. 



CZ #20-09 Page 9 

 

development of buildings, fill and soils must be of proper bearing capacity 
to support foundations and waste disposal systems. 

7. Location and extent of all natural features to be retained after extraction 
operations, including but not limited to wetlands, streams, and wooded 
areas; 

8. The slope of all restored areas; 

9. Proposed completed topography at contour intervals of not more than five 
feet; 

10. A schedule describing the phases of reclamation. All areas shall be progres-
sively restored to mitigate hazards and to blend with the general surround-
ing environment to appear reasonably natural. Applicants must restore 
land as soon as reasonably practical once extraction activities cease on a 
portion of a mining and extraction operation; 

11. Proposed ground cover and other plants to stabilize the soil surface and to 
restore the area; 

12. A description of the methods and materials to be utilized restoring the site; 

13. A sketch plan of the proposed use of the restored site when restored;   

14. An estimate of the costs to restore land impacted by the mining and ex-
traction operation in compliance with the Township Zoning Ordinance in-
cluding an itemized list of how the applicant calculated such costs; and  

15. Any other information deemed reasonably required by the Planning Com-
mission to determine whether a permit should be issued or not. 

4. Financial Guarantee 

a. Guarantee. To ensure successful restoration of a mining and extraction operation, 
an applicant must deposit with the Township cash, a certified check, irrevocable 
bank letter of credit, or a performance bond acceptable (“Financial Guarantee”) 
to the Township before issuance of a special land use permit. The Planning Com-
mission will review and determine the amount required in the Financial Guarantee 
so it can sufficiently restore the disturbed area of the site. In determining the 
amount of such security, the Planning Commission shall take into account the size 
and scope of the proposed excavation, probable cost of reclamation of the site 
upon default of operator, recommendation of appropriate consultants, estimated 
expenses, and such other factors and conditions as might be relevant in determin-
ing the sum reasonable in the light of all facts and circumstances surrounding each 
application. The costs of restorations will include the administrative costs to the 
township for performing restoration. In addition to the Financial Guarantee, ap-



CZ #20-09 Page 10 

 

plicants must enter into a Restoration Agreement with the Township to the satis-
faction of the Township that outlines when the Township may draw from the Fi-
nancial Guarantee to restore a disturbed site. 

b. The Financial Guarantee shall be submitted by applicant prior to the issuance of 
any permit and shall be held by the Township until restoration is completed and 
has been approved by the Township. At no time shall any excavation be under-
taken or continued unless, and until the Township receives an acceptable Financial 
Guarantee and an executed Restoration Agreement. 

c. Insurance.  The applicant shall maintain liability insurance (for property damage 
and bodily harm specific to proposed site) in an amount determined reasonable 
by the Planning Commission, shall name the Township as an additional insured, 
and provide the Township with a copy of the insurance policy to be kept on file 
with the Township Clerk. 

5. Specific Operating Requirements 

A mining and extraction operation is subject to all the Specific Operating Require-
ments below. 

a. Setbacks 

Activity Setbacks1 (ft.) 

From Adjoining Property Line From Pub-
lic Streets Adjoining Prop-

erty With Resi-
dence 

Adjoining Prop-
erty Without 

Residence 

Mining/Excavation 200 100 100 

Loading and Weighing2 200 100 300 

Processing: 

Stationary Plant3: 
Screening and Washing 

500 300 300 

Portable Plant4: 
Screening and Washing 

200 100 100 

Stockpiling 200 150 150 

Landscaping Berm5 10 10 10 

Natural Features6 -- -- -- 
1Setback: defined as the distance from the property line or edge of the public 
street. The setback for mining operations may not be used for any use related 
to an extraction operation, except access roads, berms, fencing, and public no-
tice signs identifying the use as an excavation. 
2Weighing via on-board scales 
3Stationary Plant: immobile mining equipment/machines that are fixed in 
place. 

Commented [GB210]: Consider modifying the cell to read 
“Adjoining Residential Districts and Properties With a Residence”. 

Commented [GB211]: Consider modifying the cell to read 

“Other Adjoining Properties Without a Residence”. 



CZ #20-09 Page 11 

 
4Portable Plant: mining equipment/machines that are easily moved and trans-
ported. 
5Landscaping Berm: the berm shall be located within the mining operation set-
backs listed in the table above.  Refer to this Ordinance for further discussion 
regarding landscaping berm. 
6Natural Features: 50 foot natural feature setback shall be maintained from 
the ordinary high water mark (shoreline) of any lake, pond, or stream and to 
the edge of any drainageway or regulated wetland. 

b. The setback areas shall not be used for any use related to an extraction operation, 
except access roads, berms, fencing, and public notice signs identifying the use as 
an excavation. All physical limits on the extent of extraction shall be clearly iden-
tified on the site plan and restoration plan approved by the Planning Commission. 

c. Complaint Resolution. Mining and extraction operations must provide and post 
on an area accessible to the public a sign that notes a telephone number to call 
with any complaints related to a mining and extraction operation. Permit holders 
must keep a log of all complaints received from the number referenced above and 
detail: (1) all complaints received and a description of each complaint; (2) action 
taken to resolve each complaint; and (3) any action taken to prevent future similar 
complaints.  

d. Building Line for Operation Structure. To reduce effects of airborne dust, dirt, and 
noise, all equipment and structures for sorting, crushing, and loading, excluding 
scales, shall not be built or located closer than five hundred (500) feet from any 
public street right-of-way or from any adjoining property line. 

e. Access/Road Maintenance Agreement. All means of access to the property shall 
only be from roads designated by the Jackson County Department of Transporta-
tion and shall not be from private roads unless authorized by the Planning Com-
mission. The Planning Commission shall have the discretion to review and approve 
all proposed haul routes. The first 150 feet of access into a mining and extraction 
operation from the edge of a public road may not be gravel and must be paved 
(e.g. by asphalt concrete or Portland cement concrete). Permit holders must enter 
into a road maintenance agreement with the Jackson County Department of 
Transportation or other applicable governmental entity to maintain roads utilized 
as part of an operation’s haul route in a well-maintained manner that ensures pe-
destrian and traffic safety. 

f. Gates and Fences. All access points to a mining and extraction operation must 
include a lockable gate. Said gates shall be closed and locked at all times except 
during the permitted hours of operation. The perimeter of the operation where 
excavation has occurred or is being conducted shall be fenced with a six (6) foot 
high woven wire fence. The fence shall always be well-maintained and in good 

Commented [GB212]: Consider checking with JCDOT con-
cerning the terminology it prefers. 



CZ #20-09 Page 12 

 

repair. All required gates and fencing must be installed before any mining or ex-
traction operation commences unless waived by the Planning Commission. 

g. Signs. Mining and extraction operations must post warning signs at 200-foot in-
tervals along the perimeter of the property that inform the public to keep out of 
the property. 

h. Noise, Vibration, and Air Pollution. Any noise, odors, smoke, fumes, or dust gen-
erated on said property by any digging, excavating, loading or processing opera-
tion borne, or able to be borne, by the wind shall be controlled so as not to cause 
a nuisance or hazard to any adjoining property or road. 

i. Pollution of Waters. The removal or storage of materials shall not cause unau-
thorized contamination by any material to any body of water. 

j. Access Roads. All private access roads shall be treated to minimize dust creation. 

k. Slopes. Finished and restored slopes of the banks of the excavation shall in no 
event exceed a minimum of four (4) feet to one (1) foot (four feet to one foot 
vertical). Where ponded water results from the operations, slopes must be main-
tained and extended into the water to a depth of five (5) feet.  

l. Elevation of Plant Site. Wherever practical, all aggregate processing plants shall 
be located within the excavation area, at a point lower than the general level of 
the surrounding terrain, in order to reduce the visual and noise of the plant struc-
ture. 

m. Stockpiles. There shall be no stockpiling or equipment storage or repair on the site 
outside of any required screening berms or closer than two hundred (200) feet 
from any property line or any public highway right of way. Stockpiles of stripped 
topsoil shall be seeded with grass or other materials so to prevent erosion. 

n. Water and Sewage Disposal. On-site domestic water supply and domestic sewage 
disposal systems shall be approved, if required, by the Jackson County Health De-
partment. 

o. Survey Markers. Permanent and readily visible markers shall be placed and main-
tained which show where surveyed lines of road right of ways, property lines, and 
setback lines exist. The markers shall be a minimum of five (5) feet in height and 
be placed along the required locations around the site. Such shall be placed at a 
distance, not to exceed three hundred fifty (350) feet for each marker. The mark-
ers shall be placed at intervals so that the line of sight from one marker to two 
adjacent markers is visible. 

p. Material Importation. Mining and extraction operations may not import any ma-
terials, including aggregates or soils, unless disclosed in an approved Extraction 
Master Plan or Land Reclamation Plan. 

q. Crushing. Crushing of non-native or imported material is prohibited. 

Commented [GB213]: Consider changing to “rights-of-way”. 



CZ #20-09 Page 13 

 

6. Hours of Operation 

a. Mining and extraction operations may only occur between the hours of 7:00 A.M. 
and 6:00 P.M., Monday through Friday, and between 7:00 A.M. and 2:00 P.M. on 
Saturday. Operations on Saturday shall be for load out only, no extraction or pro-
cessing. 

b. Transporting and Loading. No transporting or loading of aggregates from the site 
shall be permitted prior to 7:00 A.M. and after 6:00 P.M., Monday through Friday, 
and prior to 7:00 A.M. and after 2:00 P.M. on Saturday. 

c. Repair of Equipment. Repair and maintenance of equipment site shall be permit-
ted only during the hours of 6:00 A.M. through 9:00 P.M. Monday through Friday 
and 6:30 A.M. through 5:00 P.M. on Saturdays. 

d. Sunday Operations. No operations may occur on Sundays. 

e. Operations on Holidays. No operations may occur on the following holidays: New 
Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, 
Christmas Eve Day, and Christmas Day. 

7. Landscaping 

a. Landscaping Plan Required: A separate detailed landscape plan must be submit-
ted as part of a special land use permit for a mining and extraction operation to 
minimize negative impacts on adjacent properties. The landscape plan shall be 
prepared at a minimum scale of 1"= 100' and identify all berms. The landscape 
plan shall include the following items: 

i. Proposed plant location, spacing, and size and descriptions for each plant type 
proposed for use to meet the requirements of this Ordinance. 

ii. Identification of grass and other proposed ground cover and method of plant-
ing. 

iii. Identification of existing trees and vegetative cover to be preserved. 

1. Berm plantings include at a minimum, one coniferous tree of at least six 
feet in height per forty linear feet of berm where the Planning Commission 
finds such screening is necessary to minimize negative visual or audio im-
pacts upon abutting roads and parcels. The trees shall be located between 
the berm and the property but not in any right of way. All plantings pro-
posed along berms or otherwise in setback areas shall be of an informal 
character, rely on native species, and include a combination of coniferous 
and deciduous plant material. 

b. Berms. The construction of a screening berm shall be initiated immediately upon 
the initiation of extraction operations on a site and shall be completed within 
three months of the of such extraction operations. Berms serve to visually screen 
the operations on the site as well as reduce noise and dust from properties. Berms 

Commented [GB214]: Consider specifying that plantings are 

allowed on the berms as well. Consider adding shrubbery and orna-

mental grasses. Consider moving the subsection under Section 
7(b)vi. 



CZ #20-09 Page 14 

 

shall be located as indicated on the approved site and landscaping plans and shall 
meet the following requirements. 

i. Berms shall be located along all sides of active extractive or processing opera-
tions that abut a public or private road or a parcel requiring a 200-foot setback 
under this Ordinance and on which a dwelling is currently. 

ii. Berms shall be of a slope of one foot of vertical rise for each two feet of hori-
zontal run. The location and height of berms must be adequate to visually 
screen the operation. 

iii. Berms must be designed to prohibit changes in drainage patterns on abutting 
properties and rights-of-way. 

iv. Berms must be seeded or otherwise planted maintained with vegetative char-
acter of the area. Trees may be included in the landscaping to enhance the 
screening function. 

v. Berms may be removed in the process of reclamation when the operations 
that were being screened have moved or have been completed. 

c. Quality of Plant Material. Plant material and grasses shall be of acceptable varie-
ties and species, free of insects or diseases, and hardy to the climate. Plant species 
that are generally considered undesirable due to limited disease tolerance, low 
wood strength, and/ or high tendencies toward splitting of wood, such as box el-
der, mulberry, and willows, are not permitted unless authorized by the Planning 
Commission. Plant material shall be maintained in a reasonably healthy condition, 
free from refuse and debris. All unhealthy and dead material shall be replaced 
within (1) year of or death or the next appropriate planting period, whichever 
comes first. 

d. Unexcavated Areas. Unexcavated areas shall be left in such a condition to ensure 
growth of vegetation, soil stabilization and erosion control. Topsoil of a quality 
equal to that occurring naturally in the area shall be replaced, if necessary, to a 
depth of four (4) inches on unexcavated areas that have been disturbed. 

Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Jackson 
County Planning Commission to recommend APPROVAL 
WITH COMMENTS of the zoning ordinance amendments 
regarding ‘Mining and Extraction Operations’ to the 
Grass Lake Charter Township Board. This advisement in-
cluding the need to make such operations a special land 
use in all zoning districts as well as the suggested 
changes to the proposed text (see the staff report). 

Staff Report Attachments: 

 Background information provided by Grass Lake Charter Township and the MSU-E Land Use Series report for 
examples of other ‘Restrictions on Zoning Authority’ 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

Commented [GB215]: Consider requiring that the annual Re-

newal Report address plant replacement. 



JCPC Case #: _____-_____ 
(For JCPC Use Only) ZONING AMENDMENT FORM 

 
 JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 

(COORDINATING ZONING) 
Return to: Jackson County Planning Commission ∙ c/o Region 2 Planning Commission ∙ 120 W. Michigan Avenue ∙ Jackson, Michigan 49201 

Please submit the Planning Commission meeting minutes and any reports/exhibits the Commission used to makes its recommendation with this form. Use 
a separate form for each proposed zoning change. Please include a legal description/ survey with rezoning requests in addition to the Parcel ID Number. 

A copy of this form with the JCPC recommendation will be mailed back to the Clerk, who will return a copy to the JCPC with the Township Board Action. 

 

THE ______________________________ TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION submits the following proposed zoning change to the Jackson 
County Planning Commission for its review, comment, and recommendation: 

(ANSWER EITHER A or B) 

A. DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGE (REZONING): 

(Provide the legal and popular property descriptions, the Parcel ID Number(s), the number of acres, and the section(s) in which the 
property is located. Attach additional sheets if more space is needed. Attach a map showing all changes and additions.) 

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

1. The above described property has a proposed zoning change FROM  ____________________________________________ ( ______ ) 

ZONE TO  ___________________________________________________ ( ______ ) ZONE. 

2. PURPOSE OF PROPOSED CHANGE:  ________________________________________________________________________________  

 _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

B. ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT: 

The following Article(s) and Section(s) is amended or altered:  ARTICLE  ______________________ SECTION  ____________________  

The NEW SECTION reads as follows: (Attach additional sheets if more space is needed.)  ________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

C. PUBLIC HEARING on the above amendment was held on:    month __________    day __________    year __________ 

D. NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING was published/mailed on the following date:    month __________    day __________    year __________ 

(Notice must be provided at least fifteen days prior to the public hearing.) 

E. THE NEWSPAPER (having general circulation in Township) carrying the NOTICE: _____________________________________________  

The PROPOSED ZONING AMENDMENT described herein was duly considered by the Township Planning Commission and will be 

forwarded to the Township Board with a recommendation to  APPROVE or  DISAPPROVE. 

________________________________________  Chair or  Secretary ______ / ______ / ______ (enter date) 

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION (JCPC) ACTION: 

1. Date of Meeting:    month _____________    day _____________    year ______________ 

2. The JCPC herewith certifies receipt of the proposed amendment on the above date and: 

 Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change 

 Recommends DISAPPROVAL of the zoning change for the reasons stated in the attached letter. 

 Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change with comments, as stated in the attached letter. 

 Takes NO ACTION. 

________________________________________, Recording Secretary ______ / ______ / ______ (enter date) 

TOWNSHIP BOARD ACTION: 

1. Date of Meeting:    month _____________    day _____________    year ______________ 

2. The ____________________ Township Board herewith certifies that a legally constituted meeting held on the above date and that 

the proposed amendment  PASSED,  DID NOT PASS, or was  REFERRED ANEW to the Township Planning Commission. 

 

Township Clerk 
Revised: 12/19/14 

Grass Lake Charter Township

14.07 (HH)

July 9 2020
June 16 2020

Exponent

Jere Hinkle July 9 2020



Page 1 of 18 

 

GRASS LAKE CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

JACKSON COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 

ORDINANCE NO. __ 

 

At a meeting of the Township Board of Grass Lake Charter Township, Jackson County, Michigan, held at 

the Grass Lake Charter Township Hall  on _____________, 20___, at __:____ __.m., Township Board 

Member __________________________ moved to adopt the following ordinance, which motion was 

seconded by Township Board Member __________________: 

 

An Ordinance to amend the Grass Lake Charter Township Zoning Ordinance, as 

amended, to among other things, regulate mining and extraction operations within the 

Township in order to maintain the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of and 

visitors to Grass Lake Charter Township. 

 

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF GRASS LAKE ORDAINS: 

 

SECTION 1. Amendment of Chapter 2, Section 2.13, Definitions “M”: The Grass Lake 

Charter Township Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 2, Section 2.13 shall be amended to include the 

definition of Mining and Extraction Operations below. All other Ordinance definitions shall 

remain the same.   

 

Mining and Extraction Operations. Any excavation operation for the purpose of 

searching for, removing, or processing peat, gravel, sand, clay, earth, or other soils, or 

marble, stone, slate, or other valuable natural resource in excess of five-hundred (500) 

cubic yards in any calendar year, including the overburdening, storage or transporting of 

such items on a mining and extraction site, or the reclamation of the site after removal or 

excavation of such items, but not including an oil or gas well. The following activities are 

not mining and extraction operations and are exempt from the special land use permit 

requirements of this Ordinance: 

 

A. Excavation approved by a governmental body of competent jurisdiction in 

conjunction with the installation or maintenance of publicly owned or operated 

utilities, drainage facilities, roads, or other publicly owned or operated improvements, 

where the excavation is limited to the site of the public utility or improvement. 

 

B. The ordinary and necessary grading of land for the tilling and cultivation of soils to 

grow crops or excavation in conjunction with a farming operation conducted 

following generally accepted agricultural management practices. 

 

C. Normal lawn and landscaping installation and maintenance provided that the existing 

natural grade is not raised or lowered by more than twelve (12) inches over an area 

encompassing twenty-five percent (25%) or more of a parcel. 



2 

 

 

D. Any excavation of material that will not involve transporting the materials outside the 

property where they were extracted. 

 

E. Excavations for ponds constructed for private use of property owners provided the 

pond will not be larger than five acres and material will not be removed from the site. 

 

F. Excavation within a public right-of-way, within public roads or drainage easements. 

 

G. Excavation that by its nature is of limited scope and duration and that is undertaken 

primarily for the immediate use and development of the land excavated, such as for 

purposes of building construction, access way construction, septic tanks, swimming 

pools, graves, and other approved uses under this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 2. Amendment of Chapter 14, Section 14.07(HH), Removal and Processing of 

Topsoil, Stone, Rock, Water, Sand, Gravel, Lime or Other Soil or Mineral Resources: The 

Grass Lake Charter Township Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 14, Section 14.07(HH) shall be 

renamed to “Mining and Extraction Operations” and amended to read as follows:  

 

1. Purpose: The Township recognizes that sand, gravel, and other valuable natural 

resources within the Township have beneficial uses when extracted from the earth. The 

Township further understands that mining and extraction operations have the potential to 

impose very serious consequences, as the term is used in Section 205 of the Michigan 

Zoning Enabling Act, on township residents and visitors if not appropriately regulated. 

This section regulates mining and extraction operations to promote utilization of these 

resources in a manner that is compatible with surrounding land uses and to prevent very 

serious consequences related to impacts on property values, pedestrian and traffic safety, 

the environment, other land uses, and other identifiable health, safety, and welfare 

interests.  

 

2. Permitting 

 

a. Permit Required. It is unlawful to conduct a mining and extraction operation 

without obtaining a special land use permit and meeting all requirements of the 

Township Zoning Ordinance.  

 

b. Length of Permit. A mining and extraction operation special land use permit shall 

be issued for five (5) years. The Planning Commission must annually review 

special land use permits for mining and extraction operations according to the 

Annual Compliance Review described below. No renewal of any special land use 

permit for a mining and extraction operation shall allow such use to continue for 



3 

 

more than five (5) years without submission of a new special land use permit 

application containing all information required by Township Zoning Ordinance. 

 

c. Annual Compliance Review. As a condition of a special land use permit for a 

mining and extraction operation, the Township shall annually inspect the 

operation for compliance with the Township Zoning Ordinance and conditions of 

a special land use permit before renewing a special land use permit. This review 

shall consider, but is not limited to, (1) permit holder disclosure of all violations 

of local, state, and federal laws and regulations by a mining and extraction 

operation and (2) a physical inspection of a mining and extraction operation for 

compliance with Township Ordinances, special land use permits, site plans, 

zoning permits, and local, state, and federal laws and regulations by the Township 

Zoning Enforcement Officer or any other individual designated to inspect a site 

by the Township. Any existing Special Land Use permit may be invalidated, 

revoked or terminated early based on findings of non-compliance uncovered 

during the Annual Compliance Review pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance.  

 

d. Renewal Report. Before renewing a special land use permit for a mining and 

extraction operation, and 60 days prior to each annual anniversary of a special 

land use permit, a permit holder must submit to the Planning Commission for 

approval a report of the land use’s operations necessary for the Annual 

Compliance Review. This Renewal Report shall include: 

 

i. Materials related to all complaints received by the permit holder and all 

permit holder actions to resolve such complaints;  

 

ii. Copies of all permits obtained and renewed during the past year from 

local, state, and federal governmental entities related to the operation of a 

mining and extraction operation; 

 

iii. Materials related to all inspection reports conducted on a mining and 

extraction operation; 

 

iv. Information outlining all materials, including aggregates, imported to a 

mining and extraction operation; 

 

v. A description of the expected future extraction operations and locations of 

future extraction operations; 

 

vi. A description of restoration and reclamation activities performed to date 

and plans for reclamation activities in the future;  

 



4 

 

vii. Proof of a financial guarantee and liability insurance compliant with this 

Ordinance;  

 

viii. Information related to any changes in or withdrawal of any permits 

required by this Ordinance; and  

 

ix. Any information reasonably requested by the Planning Commission to 

determine if a permit shall be renewed. 

 

e. Inspections. Mining and extraction operations are subject to site inspections as 

determined by the Township. As a condition of obtaining a special land use 

permit, applicants and permit holders are deemed to have authorized these 

inspections and will cooperate fully in making the mining and extraction 

operations available for inspections. If violations of the conditions of the Special 

Land Use permit are determined based on the inspection, the Special Land Use 

permit may be invalidated, revoked or terminated pursuant to the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

 

f. Lot Size. Mining and extractions operations shall occur on a parcel of with a 

minimum lot size of 10 acres. 

 

3. Application for Special Land Use Permit for Mining and Extraction Operation 

 

a. Applicants who apply for a special land use permit for a mining and extraction 

operation must, in addition to all the information required for a special land use 

permit application (12 copies of the full application shall be provided), include the 

following information: 

 

i. Site Plan: Applicants must submit a preliminary and final site plan under 

the Zoning Ordinance. Site plans for mining and extraction operations 

include the following information in addition to the information 

requirements in Chapter 15 of the Zoning Ordinance: 

 

1. The proposed excavation area; 

 

2. A list of any deed restrictions and easements of record appearing in 

the chain of title; 

 

3. The location and size of sediment ponds, drainage diversions, and 

offsite discharge points; and 

 



5 

 

4. The location of permanent site equipment. 

 

ii. Hydrogeological Report:  

 

1. A Hydrogeological Report is required if an applicant plans on 

creating a lake greater than five (5) acres after extraction 

operations or in cases where a proposed mining and extraction 

operation plans to extract material from below the water table and 

requires the use of dewatering. If required, applicants must submit 

a Hydrogeological Report by a registered professional engineer, 

certified geologist, or other qualified individual selected and/or 

approved by the Planning Commission, regarding hydrogeological 

impacts from a proposed mining and extraction operation. This 

report shall include the items listed below: 

 

a. Evidence that shows an applicant will obtain all necessary 

permits required by local, state, and/or federal 

governmental agencies including all permits required by 

the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, 

and Energy or its successor agency. 

 

b. Test pumping data at the proposed site and computations 

used to assess any potential site dewatering impacts;  

 

c. Information regarding the direction and rate of groundwater 

movement and how this movement will be impacted by a 

proposed mining and extraction operation; 

 

d. Information identifying the water up-gradient and down-

gradient;  

 

e. Information identifying aquifer characteristics when an 

applicant plans to use soil dewatering or plans to extend 

extraction operations within 20 feet of the highest recorded 

groundwater level; 

 

f. Information discussing any impacts on surrounding water 

supply wells; 

 

g. Identification and locations of any proposed monitoring 

wells that are consistent with all local, state, and federal 

laws and regulations; 



6 

 

 

h. Information documenting the effect of the proposed 

operation on the surrounding area’s watershed; 

 

i. Information documenting the operation’s effect on any 

wetlands; 

 

j. Should an applicant create any water bodies; information 

outlining the life-span of such bodies of water, the depth of 

such bodies, and any impacts they will have on surrounding 

land used; and  

 

k. Any other information requested by the Planning 

Commission reasonably related to whether to grant a 

special land use permit. 

 

iii. Extraction Master Plan: Applicants must submit an extraction master 

plan that assesses the operation’s impact on natural features of the 

property and outlines their proposed operation by including: 

 

1. A statement outlining compatibility with surrounding land uses; 

 

2. Information describing proposed excavation methods, including 

projected depths and drainage methods; 

 

3. A plan to control the impacts of dust from the operation; 

 

4. Information regarding the amount of material and types of material 

to be taken from the site; 

 

5. Information regarding the market’s demand for the materials to be 

extracted from the site; 

 

6. Information regarding proposed clearance methods and debris 

clean-up; 

 

7. Information regarding how an applicant plans to control erosion; 

 

8. Information regarding the control or storage of ponded or surface 

water; 

 



7 

 

9. A statement outlining the type of mobile and nonmobile equipment 

to be used at the site, including, but not limited to, available 

manufacturer specifications regarding noise levels, size, height, 

and operational characteristics; 

 

10. The location of the proposed haul routes including where traffic 

will enter and exit the proposed mining and extraction operation; 

 

11. A vertical aerial photograph enlarged to a scale equal to one (1) 

inch equal two hundred (200) feet, which identifies site 

boundaries, land uses within one half (1/2) mile of the parcel, and 

proposed locations of all extraction activities and phases; 

 

12. Proposed plans regarding fencing and signage; 

 

13. Information relating to the time, duration, phasing, and proposed 

work schedule of the total project; 

 

14. Identification of all materials, including fill imported to the site 

and its necessity to a mining and extraction operation; 

 

15. Information discussing necessary permits from any local, state, 

and/or federal governmental entity necessary to conduct the 

proposed operation and how the applicant intends to obtain or has 

obtained the necessary permits. An applicant must provide a sworn 

affidavit that they will obtain and comply with all necessary 

permits from governmental agencies and provide a copy of the 

permits to the Planning Commission for review, before operating a 

mining and extraction operation;  

 

16. Information related to proposed drainage systems, settling ponds, 

and retention ponds as appropriate; 

 

17. A description of the area from which extraction will take place in 

the first year of operation and likewise for each successive year to 

completion; and 

 

18. Topography information based on United States Geological Survey 

(USGS) or North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) data for the 

site and 100 feet of adjoining property showing: 

 



8 

 

a. Existing and Proposed Contours at two (2) foot intervals 

for property 5 acres and greater; 

 

b. Existing and Proposed Contours at one (1) foot intervals for 

property 1 to 5 acres; and 

 

c. Existing and Proposed Contours at one (1) foot intervals 

and spot elevations for property under 1 acre. 

 

19. Any other information deemed reasonably required by the 

Planning Commission to determine whether a permit should be 

issued or not. 

 

iv. Land Reclamation Plan:  Applicants must include a land reclamation 

plan prepared by a professional engineer or other qualified professional, 

selected and/or approved by the Planning Commission, that identifies, at 

the minimum, the following: 

 

1. The anticipated future use of the restored land; 

 

2. Steps to be taken to preserve topsoil; 

 

3. The placement of a three (3) inch layer of arable topsoil over the 

excavated area, except exposed rock surfaces or areas lying below 

natural water level, in accordance with the proposed reclamation 

use; 

 

4. Identification of all structures and equipment that must be removed 

from the premises upon completion of the extraction activity other 

than those necessary for reclamation; 

 

5. The restoration of the site topography so that no gradients in the 

disturbed area are steeper than a slope of 1:4; 

 

6. Identification of fill and soils to be used. Fill and soils must be of 

sufficient quality to be well-drained and non-swelling and cannot 

be overly compacted. To the extent the reclamation plan involves 

the construction or development of buildings, fill and soils must be 

of proper bearing capacity to support foundations and waste 

disposal systems. 

 



9 

 

7. Location and extent of all natural features to be retained after 

extraction operations, including but not limited to wetlands, 

streams, and wooded areas; 

 

8. The slope of all restored areas; 

 

9. Proposed completed topography at contour intervals of not more 

than five feet; 

 

10. A schedule describing the phases of reclamation. All areas shall be 

progressively restored to mitigate hazards and to blend with the 

general surrounding environment to appear reasonably natural. 

Applicants must restore land as soon as reasonably practical once 

extraction activities cease on a portion of a mining and extraction 

operation; 

 

11. Proposed ground cover and other plants to stabilize the soil surface 

and to restore the area; 

 

12. A description of the methods and materials to be utilized restoring 

the site; 

 

13. A sketch plan of the proposed use of the restored site when 

restored;   

 

14. An estimate of the costs to restore land impacted by the mining and 

extraction operation in compliance with the Township Zoning 

Ordinance including an itemized list of how the applicant 

calculated such costs; and  

 

15. Any other information deemed reasonably required by the 

Planning Commission to determine whether a permit should be 

issued or not. 

 

4. Financial Guarantee  

 

a. Guarantee. To ensure successful restoration of a mining and extraction operation, 

an applicant must deposit with the Township cash, a certified check, irrevocable 

bank letter of credit, or a performance bond acceptable (“Financial Guarantee”) to 

the Township before issuance of a special land use permit. The Planning 

Commission will review and determine the amount required in the Financial 



10 

 

Guarantee so it can sufficiently restore the disturbed area of the site. In 

determining the amount of such security, the Planning Commission shall take into 

account the size and scope of the proposed excavation, probable cost of 

reclamation of the site upon default of operator, recommendation of appropriate 

consultants, estimated expenses, and such other factors and conditions as might be 

relevant in determining the sum reasonable in the light of all facts and 

circumstances surrounding each application. The costs of restorations will include 

the administrative costs to the township for performing restoration. In addition to 

the Financial Guarantee, applicants must enter into a Restoration Agreement with 

the Township to the satisfaction of the Township that outlines when the Township 

may draw from the Financial Guarantee to restore a disturbed site. 

 

b. The Financial Guarantee shall be submitted by applicant prior to the issuance of 

any permit and shall be held by the Township until restoration is completed and 

has been approved by the Township. At no time shall any excavation be 

undertaken or continued unless, and until the Township receives an acceptable 

Financial Guarantee and an executed Restoration Agreement. 

 

c. Insurance.  The applicant shall maintain liability insurance (for property damage 

and bodily harm specific to proposed site) in an amount determined reasonable by 

the Planning Commission, shall name the Township as an additional insured, and 

provide the Township with a copy of the insurance policy to be kept on file with 

the Township Clerk. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



11 

 

 

 

5. Specific Operating Requirements 

A mining and extraction operation is subject to all the Specific Operating Requirements below. 

a. Setbacks.  

Activity Setbacks1 (ft.) 

From Adjoining Property Line From Public Streets 

Adjoining 

Property With 

Residence 

Adjoining 

Property 

Without 

Residence 

Mining/Excavation 200 100 100 

Loading and Weighing2 200 100 300 

 

Processing: 

Stationary Plant3: 

Screening and Washing 

500 300 300 

Portable Plant4: 

Screening and Washing 

200 100 100 

 

Stockpiling 200 150 150 

Landscaping Berm5 10 10 10 

 

Natural Features6 -- -- -- 
1Setback: defined as the distance from the property line or edge of the public street. The setback for mining 

operations may not be used for any use related to an extraction operation, except access roads, berms, fencing, and 

public notice signs identifying the use as an excavation. 
2Weighing via on-board scales 
3Stationary Plant: immobile mining equipment/machines that are fixed in place. 
4Portable Plant: mining equipment/machines that are easily moved and transported. 
5Landscaping Berm: the berm shall be located within the mining operation setbacks listed in the table above.  Refer 

to this Ordinance for further discussion regarding landscaping berm. 
6Natural Features: 50 foot natural feature setback shall be maintained from the ordinary high water mark (shoreline) 

of any lake, pond, or stream and to the edge of any drainageway or regulated wetland. 

 

b. The setback areas shall not be used for any use related to an extraction operation, 

except access roads, berms, fencing, and public notice signs identifying the use as 

an excavation. All physical limits on the extent of extraction shall be clearly 

identified on the site plan and restoration plan approved by the Planning 

Commission. 

 

c. Complaint Resolution. Mining and extraction operations must provide and post on 

an area accessible to the public a sign that notes a telephone number to call with 

any complaints related to a mining and extraction operation. Permit holders must 

keep a log of all complaints received from the number referenced above and 

detail: (1) all complaints received and a description of each complaint; (2) action 



12 

 

taken to resolve each complaint; and (3) any action taken to prevent future similar 

complaints.  

 

d. Building Line for Operation Structure. To reduce effects of airborne dust, dirt, 

and noise, all equipment and structures for sorting, crushing, and loading, 

excluding scales, shall not be built or located closer than five hundred (500) feet 

from any public street right-of-way or from any adjoining property line. 

 

e. Access/Road Maintenance Agreement. All means of access to the property shall 

only be from roads designated by the Jackson County Department of 

Transportation and shall not be from private roads unless authorized by the 

Planning Commission. The Planning Commission shall have the discretion to 

review and approve all proposed haul routes. The first 150 feet of access into a 

mining and extraction operation from the edge of a public road may not be gravel 

and must be paved (e.g. by asphalt concrete or Portland cement concrete). Permit 

holders must enter into a road maintenance agreement with the Jackson County 

Department of Transportation or other applicable governmental entity to maintain 

roads utilized as part of an operation’s haul route in a well-maintained manner 

that ensures pedestrian and traffic safety. 

 

f. Gates and Fences. All access points to a mining and extraction operation must 

include a lockable gate. Said gates shall be closed and locked at all times except 

during the permitted hours of operation. The perimeter of the operation where 

excavation has occurred or is being conducted shall be fenced with a six (6) foot 

high woven wire fence. The fence shall always be well-maintained and in good 

repair. All required gates and fencing must be installed before any mining or 

extraction operation commences unless waived by the Planning Commission. 

 

g. Signs. Mining and extraction operations must post warning signs at 200-foot 

intervals along the perimeter of the property that inform the public to keep out of 

the property. 

 

h. Noise, Vibration, and Air Pollution. Any noise, odors, smoke, fumes, or dust 

generated on said property by any digging, excavating, loading or processing 

operation borne, or able to be borne, by the wind shall be controlled so as not to 

cause a nuisance or hazard to any adjoining property or road. 

 

i. Pollution of Waters. The removal or storage of materials shall not cause 

unauthorized contamination by any material to any body of water. 

 

j. Access Roads. All private access roads shall be treated to minimize dust creation. 

 



13 

 

k. Slopes. Finished and restored slopes of the banks of the excavation shall in no 

event exceed a minimum of four (4) feet to one (1) foot (four feet to one foot 

vertical). Where ponded water results from the operations, slopes must be 

maintained and extended into the water to a depth of five (5) feet.  

 

l. Elevation of Plant Site. Wherever practical, all aggregate processing plants shall 

be located within the excavation area, at a point lower than the general level of the 

surrounding terrain, in order to reduce the visual and noise of the plant structure. 

 

m. Stockpiles. There shall be no stockpiling or equipment storage or repair on the site 

outside of any required screening berms or closer than two hundred (200) feet 

from any property line or any public highway right of way. Stockpiles of stripped 

topsoil shall be seeded with grass or other materials so to prevent erosion. 

 

n. Water and Sewage Disposal. On-site domestic water supply and domestic sewage 

disposal systems shall be approved, if required, by the Jackson County Health 

Department. 

 

o. Survey Markers. Permanent and readily visible markers shall be placed and 

maintained which show where surveyed lines of road right of ways, property 

lines, and setback lines exist. The markers shall be a minimum of five (5) feet in 

height and be placed along the required locations around the site. Such shall be 

placed at a distance, not to exceed three hundred fifty (350) feet for each marker. 

The markers shall be placed at intervals so that the line of sight from one marker 

to two adjacent markers is visible. 

 

p. Material Importation. Mining and extraction operations may not import any 

materials, including aggregates or soils, unless disclosed in an approved 

Extraction Master Plan or Land Reclamation Plan. 

 

q. Crushing.  Crushing of non-native or imported material is prohibited. 

 

6. Hours of Operation 

 

a. Mining and extraction operations may only occur between the hours of 7:00 A.M. 

and 6:00 P.M., Monday through Friday, and between 7:00 A.M. and 2:00 P.M. on 

Saturday. Operations on Saturday shall be for load out only, no extraction or 

processing. 

 



14 

 

b. Transporting and Loading. No transporting or loading of aggregates from the site 

shall be permitted prior to 7:00 A.M. and after 6:00 P.M., Monday through 

Friday, and prior to 7:00 A.M. and after 2:00 P.M. on Saturday. 

 

c. Repair of Equipment. Repair and maintenance of equipment site shall be 

permitted only during the hours of 6:00 A.M. through 9:00 P.M. Monday through 

Friday and 6:30 A.M. through 5:00 P.M. on Saturdays. 

 

d. Sunday Operations. No operations may occur on Sundays. 

 

e. Operations on Holidays. No operations may occur on the following holidays: New 

Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, 

Christmas Eve Day, and Christmas Day. 

7.  Landscaping 

 

a. Landscaping Plan Required: A separate detailed landscape plan must be submitted 

as part of a special land use permit for a mining and extraction operation to 

minimize negative impacts on adjacent properties. The landscape plan shall be 

prepared at a minimum scale of 1"= 100' and identify all berms. The landscape 

plan shall include the following items: 

 

i. Proposed plant location, spacing, and size and descriptions for each plant 

type proposed for use to meet the requirements of this Ordinance. 

 

ii. Identification of grass and other proposed ground cover and method of 

planting. 

 

iii. Identification of existing trees and vegetative cover to be preserved. 

 

1. Berm plantings include at a minimum, one coniferous tree of at 

least six feet in height per forty linear feet of berm where the 

Planning Commission finds such screening is necessary to 

minimize negative visual or audio impacts upon abutting roads and 

parcels. The trees shall be located between the berm and the 

property but not in any right of way. All plantings proposed along 

berms or otherwise in setback areas shall be of an informal 

character, rely on native species, and include a combination of 

coniferous and deciduous plant material. 

 

b. Berms. The construction of a screening berm shall be initiated immediately upon 

the initiation of extraction operations on a site and shall be completed within three 



15 

 

months of the of such extraction operations. Berms serve to visually screen the 

operations on the site as well as reduce noise and dust from properties. Berms 

shall be located as indicated on the approved site and landscaping plans and shall 

meet the following requirements. 

 

i. Berms shall be located along all sides of active extractive or processing 

operations that abut a public or private road or a parcel requiring a 200-

foot setback under this Ordinance and on which a dwelling is currently. 

 

ii. Berms shall be of a slope of one foot of vertical rise for each two feet of 

horizontal run. The location and height of berms must be adequate to 

visually screen the operation. 

 

iii. Berms must be designed to prohibit changes in drainage patterns on 

abutting properties and rights-of-way. 

 

iv. Berms must be seeded or otherwise planted maintained with vegetative 

character of the area. Trees may be included in the landscaping to enhance 

the screening function. 

 

v. Berms may be removed in the process of reclamation when the operations 

that were being screened have moved or have been completed. 

 

c. Quality of Plant Material. Plant material and grasses shall be of acceptable 

varieties and species, free of insects or diseases, and hardy to the climate. Plant 

species that are generally considered undesirable due to limited disease tolerance, 

low wood strength, and/ or high tendencies toward splitting of wood, such as box 

elder, mulberry, and willows, are not permitted unless authorized by the Planning 

Commission. Plant material shall be maintained in a reasonably healthy condition, 

free from refuse and debris. All unhealthy and dead material shall be replaced 

within (1) year of or death or the next appropriate planting period, whichever 

comes first. 

 

d. Unexcavated Areas. Unexcavated areas shall be left in such a condition to ensure 

growth of vegetation, soil stabilization and erosion control. Topsoil of a quality 

equal to that occurring naturally in the area shall be replaced, if necessary, to a 

depth of four (4) inches on unexcavated areas that have been disturbed. 

 

8. Waiver and Modification 

 



16 

 

a. Permit holders must notify the Township of any changes of operations contrary to 

any application materials submitted as part of a special land use permit for a 

mining and extraction operation. The Township Planning Commission must 

approve these changes in writing. 

b. The Planning Commission reserves the rights to waive requirements in this 

section if it determines that some requirements are not necessary or do not apply 

to a proposed mining and extraction operation. 

 

SECTION 3. Severability: The provisions of this Ordinance are declared severable. If any part 

of this Ordinance is declared invalid for any reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, that 

declaration does not affect or impair the validity of all other provisions that are not subject to that 

declaration. 

 

SECTION 4. Repeal: All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

SECTION 5. Form: A compilation the Grass Lake Charter Township Zoning Ordinance after 

the amendment above is attached and incorporated herein as the revised Grass Lake Charter 

Zoning Ordinance. The attached document shall serve as the Grass Lake Charter Township 

Zoning Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 6. Effective Date: This Ordinance shall become effective seven (7) days after 

publication of a notice of adoption of this Ordinance, unless referendum procedures are initiated 

under MCL 125.3402. If referendum procedures are initiated, this Ordinance will take effect in 

accordance with MCL 125.3402. 

 

YEAS:           

 

NAYS:          

 

ABSENT/ABSTAIN:         

 

ORDINANCE DECLARED ADOPTED.  

 

 

____________________________________________ 

James Stormont, Grass Lake Charter Township Supervisor 

 

  



17 

 

CERTIFICATION 

 

I hereby certify that: 

 

1.  The above is a true copy of an Ordinance adopted by the Grass Lake Charter Township 

Board at a duly scheduled public meeting of the Township Board held on ________, 

20___, pursuant to the required statutory procedures. 

 

2.  A summary of the above Ordinance was duly published in the 

______________________ newspaper, a newspaper that circulates within Grass Lake 

Charter Township, on ___________, 20__. 

 

3.  Within 1 week after such publication, I recorded the above Ordinance in a book of 

ordinances kept by me for that purpose, including the date of passage of the ordinance, 

the names of the members of the township board voting, and how each member voted.  

 

4.  I filed an attested copy of the above Ordinance with the Jackson County Clerk on 

_____________, 20____.  

 

ATTESTED: 

 

______________________________________ 

Catherine Zenz, Grass Lake Charter Township Clerk 

  



 

1 | P a g e  0 7 0 9 2 0 2 0  u n a p p r o v e d  P l a n n i n g  C o m i s s i o n  M e e t i n g  

M i n u t e s  
 

      

    
 

 

1. Call to Order at 7:06 pm 

Meeting was held using Zoom PC Video Conferencing Facilities 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call  

P_ Tom Brennan, _P_ Jim Ducey, _P_ Jere Hinkle, _P_ Mark Jewell, _P_ Dale 
Lucas, _P_ Nancy Prindle, _P_ Jim Warbritton also in attendance Doug Lammers – 
Township Zoning Administrator and John Enos – Township Planner 

Representatives from S Power including Frank Krawczel -  Project Manager,  Ali 
Rodrian -  Permitting Manager,  Mackenzie Meinhold - Internal Counsel, Daniel 
Wang -  Interconnection Manger, Cat Mosley - Community Relations Director, 
Patricia Haslam - Real Estate Manager and Drew Demos -  Land Acquisition 
Manager. 

Approximately 35 citizens were also signed in on this virtual meeting.. 

4. Approval of Agenda  

A motion by Chairman Hinkle was made to modify the agenda by placement of board 
discussion/actions of each subject Public Meeting immediately after its close.  As 
such, Case #20-05-0008 - New business Item 8a (discussion/action for the Letts 
Creek Solar Farm Special Land Use request) would be relocated and designated as 
Item 6d.  Similarly for Case #20-02-0005, New business Item 8b  (discussion/action 
for the Proposed Text Amendment for Mining Ordinance, Section 14.07 HH)  would 
be relocated and designated as Item 7c. The motion was supported by Ducey.  All 
ayes. Motion carried. 

5. Approval of Minutes 

It was moved by Brennan and supported by Lucas that the May 21, 2020 Meeting 
Minutes be approved as presented. All ayes. Motion carried.  

The meeting was then closed by Chairman Hinkle. 

 

Grass Lake Township Planning Commission 
07092020 unapproved PC minutes 

Grass Lake Charter Township Hall 
373 Lakeside Dr. Grass Lake Mi 49240  

 



 

2 | P a g e  0 7 0 9 2 0 2 0  u n a p p r o v e d  P l a n n i n g  C o m i s s i o n  M e e t i n g  

M i n u t e s  
 

6. Public hearing Case #20-05-0008  

Preliminary Site Plan and Special Use Permit (SLUP) request for a Large Solar 
Energy System by Letts Creek Solar, LLC. 

A.  The project  

The hearing was opened with an introduction of the proposed project by John 
Enos, the Commission’s Consultant Planner. The project is a 109-acre 
commercial solar farm in eastern Grass Lake Township at the Washtenaw 
County border.  Mr. Enos presented an overview of the project status to date  He 
related the planning activities that had been performed that has culminated with a 
Site Plan and Special Land Use Permit under review and consideration at this 
Public Hearing.  Mr. Enos was very complimentary regarding the thoroughness of 
the Site Plan and information that had been provided by S-power, the developer, 
in demonstration of the proposed project’s compliance with the Township’s Large 
Solar Energy Systems Ordinance and Site Plan requirements.  He recommended 
that plan be approved, with conditions.   

The hearing continued with a presentation by Frank Krawczel, S Power Project 
Manager.  It centered around a 28- slide presentation covering the following main 
points:  

a. Who is S-Power and their history: Headquarters in Salt Lake City, 
Utah, - an Independent Power Producer (IPP), specializing in 
developing, owning and operating renewable energy projects,  
Operate 155+ Projects in 12 States with 1,600 + MW, and 15 GW of 
projects under development 

b. S-Power is owned by a joint venture partnership between The AES 
Corporation (NYSE:AES) -  a Fortune 500 global power company, and 
the Alberta Investment Management Corporation (AIMCo), one of 
Canada’s largest and most diversified institutional investment 
managers. 

c. Project Overview of Letts Creek Solar Project  

  Location - Grass Lake Charter Township in Jackson County  

  Project Plan - 15 MW single-axis tracker solar project  

  Construction Timing - Spring 2021 through end of Year 2021  

  PPA Offtake - Electricity will be sold to Consumers Energy, IT 
will produce 28,323 MWh/year, enough to power 2,400 
residences.  

  Offsets - 20,029 tons of CO2 reduction, equivalent to the 
annual amount of carbon sequestered by 23,570 acres of 
forest. 



 

3 | P a g e  0 7 0 9 2 0 2 0  u n a p p r o v e d  P l a n n i n g  C o m i s s i o n  M e e t i n g  

M i n u t e s  
 

 Physical Description - The project will utilize pole mounted 
photovoltaic (PV) panel technology. The pole mounting will be 
secured on steel driven piles which obviates the need for 
concrete foundations This will result in lower project grading 
requirements and minimize long-term impacts to the project 
site. The PV panels will be approximately 5 – 8 feet in height. 
The project will have a minimum 40 foot setback from all 
property lines. The site will be secured with an eight-foot’ 
chain-link fence along North Francisco Road and 7’ chain-link 
fence topped with one foot of barbed wire on all other sides.  
Overhead poles will be constructed at the southern edge of 
site property will connect the solar array to the Consumer 
Powers distribution grid.  

 Site conditions – The site is in a rural setting, currently farmed 
and zoned Agricultural. It is bounded by North Francisco Road 
on the west, the NS Railroad on the north and privately-owned 
farmed properties on the east and south. There is no unique 
farmland soil present on the site. A landscaping plan has been 
prepared depicting how the solar farm will be integrated into 
the existing agricultural setting. 

 A summary of projected selected economic/fiscal impacts is 
contained in the following:  

 

The slide presentation is attached. 



 

4 | P a g e  0 7 0 9 2 0 2 0  u n a p p r o v e d  P l a n n i n g  C o m i s s i o n  M e e t i n g  

M i n u t e s  
 

Two co-owners of the property that is proposed for development, Mr. and Mrs. 
David & Ann Moore spoke relating their perspective of the project development 
history and their expectations of the project.  They stated that the solar farm 
would be developed and operated in such a manner that the site  would provide 
positive benefits to all concerned.   

B. Public Comment 

We had five public comments all supportive of the project. Eight letters had 
been received, also supporting the project. The letters are attached. We did 
not have any negative comments on this project. 

C. Close Public Hearing 

It was moved by Ducey and supported by Brennan to close the Public 
Hearing.  All ayes. Motion carried. 

7.  New Business (Item 6d in revised Agenda) 

 Case #20-05-0008 -- Preliminary Site Plan and Special Use Permit (SLUP) 
request for a Large Solar Energy System by Letts Creek Solar, LLC. 

Discussion ensued regarding minor alterations of proposed Pre operating and 
Operating Conditions.  A resolution was proposed by Hinkle and supported by 
Ducey to conditionally approve the project Site Plan and SLUP.  All ayes. Motion 
carried. A copy of this resolution is attached. 

The meeting was then closed by Chairman Hinkle. 

8. Public Hearing, Case #20-02-0005  

Proposed Text Amendment to the Mining Ordinance, Section 14.07 HH Version 7 
Draft.  

A. The Draft Amendment Status 

Text Amendment - version 7 has been available for review since May 22, 
2020. The proposed text is attached.  

B. Public Comment 

Five letters have been received regarding the Version 7 draft. These letters 
are attached.  

The subjects focused primarily on the following: 

- Surface and ground water considerations and the necessity of the 
conduction, and type, of hydrologic surface and ground water 
survey/analyses before issuance of a Special Land Use Permit (SLUP). 

- Potential health impacts of mining operations. 

gbauman
Highlight



 

5 | P a g e  0 7 0 9 2 0 2 0  u n a p p r o v e d  P l a n n i n g  C o m i s s i o n  M e e t i n g  

M i n u t e s  
 

- Operations monitoring including enforcement of Special Land Use Permit 
conditions. 

- Comparison of procedures/metrics (site size, offsets, financial, insurance 
enforcement, SLUP length) contained the draft with those of Waterloo 
Township’s Mining ordinance. 

The authors of four of the above noted letters spoke reiterating the comments 
presented in their letters A representative of the Michigan Aggregate 
Association, Doug Needham, addressed issues associated with the 
hydrogeologic requirements of the proposed amendment.  

C.   Close Public Hearing. 

It was moved by Ducey and supported by Brennan to close the Public 
Hearing.  All ayes. Motion carried. 

9. New Business (Item 7c in revised agenda) 

Case #20-02-0005 Proposed Text Amendment to the Mining Ordinance, Section 
14.07 HH Version 7 Draft.  

Members of the Planning commission the discussed the comments received 
regarding the Version 7 of Zoning Ordnance amendment.  It was concluded that 
in light of these comments no further revisions at this time were necessary before 
submission to the Jackson County Planning Commission for review.  Future 
actions in the ordinance implementation could result in further revisions needed. 

A  motion was made by Hinkle and supported by Ducey to approve the draft of 
proposed text amendment to the Grass Lake Charter Township Zoning 
Ordinance regulating mining and extraction operations within the Township in 
order to maintain the public health, safety and welfare of the residents of and 
visitors to Grass Lake Charter Township. All ayes. Motion carried.  

A copy of the draft amendment is attached. 

10. Citizens Wishing to Address the Commission-non agenda items 

Richard Murphy asked if any action had been taken regarding information 
regarding Township regulations on marijuana production/distribution.  Mr. Murphy 
was informed that the Township Board is addressing this issue. 

11. Old Business 

The necessity to initiate the updating of the Township Master Plan was noted.   
This updating should be completed in 2021. It was felt that a subcommittee 
should be established to develop the updating process. 

12. Township Board Report  

 A proposed tax millage to support rehabilitation of Township local public roads 
will be placed on the November ballot. 

gbauman
Highlight

gbauman
Highlight

gbauman
Highlight



 

6 | P a g e  0 7 0 9 2 0 2 0  u n a p p r o v e d  P l a n n i n g  C o m i s s i o n  M e e t i n g  

M i n u t e s  
 

13. Proposed Business for Next Regular Meeting - on August 20, 2020.  

A.   Possible review of a SLUP application for the Bohne Road gravel pit.  (if 
timely submitted to the Township) 

14. General Discussion  

None 

15. Adjournment 

Motion to Adjourn by Ducey and supported by Brennan at 8:59 pm . All ayes. 
Motion carried. 

Respectfully submitted. 

 

 

Jim Ducey, Secretary 

 

Attachments 

 

1. Solar Farm Slide presentation 

2. Eight Solar Polar Public Comment Letters 

3. Solar Power Conditional Approval Resolution 

4. Gravel Pit Text Amendment Version  

5. Five Gravel Pit Letters 

 

 

 



Bringing

Knowledge

to Life!

“Thirty seven million 

acres is all the Michigan 

we will ever have.”

Former Governor

William G. Milliken

Michigan State University

Extension,

Greening Michigan Institute,

Land Use Team

M SU is an affirmative-action, equal-

opportunity institution. M ichigan State

University Extension programs and materials

are open to all without regard to race, color,

national origin, gender, religion, age,

disability, political beliefs, sexual

orientation, marital status or family status.

Land Use Series
May 16, 2002

Last revised January 3, 2013

Restrictions on Zoning Authority
This publication summarizes the state and federal limitations on zoning in

Michigan.  Local governments receive power, including authorization for planning and
zoning, from the state.  The authority to adopt and enforce zoning is granted to local
governments through the zoning enabling acts.  When authority is granted to a local1

government, it often comes with strings attached which may require the task to be done
a certain way or within certain limitations.  In addition, various court cases, other state
statutes and the federal code often limit what local governments can do with zoning.

Limits placed on zoning can change.  This document attempts to outline
restrictions on zoning as they currently exist. Limitations described here are categorized
as outlined below. For the limitations on zoning listed here, detailed footnotes are
included to help the reader find the source of the limitation.

This list, starting on the next page, is divided into the following categories:
1. General Rules (page 2).
2. Outright Preemption (page 2).
3. Preemption, sort of (page 7).
4. If one use is permitted, others must be, also (page 9).
5. Can regulate but not prohibit (page 10).
6. Can regulate but not less strictly than the state (page 10).

Appendix A, on page 11, lists a few commonly believed things to be exempt from
zoning, but they are subject to zoning.  Appendix B, on page 12, reproduces the Michigan
Supreme Court and Michigan Appeals Court guidelines to aid courts to determine if state
statute preempts zoning.  Appendix C, on page 13, reports the history of this Land Use
Series updates over time.

Author:
Kurt H. Schindler, REGIONAL LAND USE EDUCATOR

LAND USE TEAM WORK GROUP

MSU EXTENSION GREENING MICHIGAN INSTITUTE 

Phone: (231)882-0026
Fax: (231)882-9605
E-mail:  SCHINDL9@anr.msu.edu
overland mail:

MSU Extension, Benzie County
448 Court Place
Beulah, Michigan 49617-9518

1

P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3101 et seq.).  (This footnote used

to cite the following acts, each repealed as of July 1, 2006: P.A. 183 of 1943, as amended (the County Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.201 et seq.); P.A. 184 of 1943,

as amended (the Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.271 et seq.); P.A. 207 of 1921, as amended (the City and Village Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.581 et seq.).)

mailto:schindl9@msu.edu


1. General rules
A. The zoning enabling acts require

consideration of all legitimate land uses:
“A zoning ordinance or zoning
decision shall not have the effect of
totally prohibiting the establishment
of a land use within a local unit of
government in the presence of a
demonstrated need for that land use
within either that local unit of
government or the surrounding area
within the state, unless a location
within the local unit of government
does not exist where the use may be
appropriately located or the use is
unlawful.”2

B. Local zoning must allow the continuation of
a nonconforming use  and expansion of a3

nonconforming use  (existing building or4

use of land that lawfully existed prior to
zoning or prior to the zoning amendment).
However, the ordinance can provide for 
reasonable terms for restoration,
reconstruction, extension, substitution, and
acquiring of  nonconforming uses that may
limit their life span.

C. Local zoning cannot constitute a taking,
which occurs if a regulation requires or
permits physical invasion by others onto
private property or is so sweeping that it, in
effect, takes away all economically viable

use of land 5

D. Zoning must provide for due process of law
and must provide equal protection of all
persons affected by the laws.6

2. Outright preemption
Outright preemption occurs if the regulation of

a particular land use is reserved to the state – that
is, it “occupies the field.” The Michigan Supreme
Court set forth four guidelines to aid courts in
determining whether a statute occupies the field of
regulation:   See Appendix B, on page 12, for more7

detail on this. 
 A. Local zoning cannot regulate the location

or operation of hazardous waste disposal
and/or storage facilities.  (It is probably8

acceptable to regulate fencing and haul
routes if approved by the state siting
board.)

B. Local zoning cannot regulate the location
or operation of solid waste facilities such as

Section 207 of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being the
2

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3207).  (This footnote

used to cite the following acts, each repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 27a. of P.A. 183
of 1943, as amended (the County Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.227a); section 27a of P.A. 184
of 1943, as amended (the Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.297a); and section 12 of P.A.
207 of 1921, as amended (the City and Village Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.592).)

Section 208 of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being the
3

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3208).  (This footnote

used to cite the following acts, each repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 16 of P.A. 183 of
1943, as amended (the County Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.216); section 16 of P.A. 184 of
1943, as amended (the Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.286.); and section 3a of P.A.
207 of 1921, as amended (the City and Village Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.583a.).)

Century Cellunet of Southern Michigan v. Summit Township et
4

al., 250 Mich.App. 543 (2002), Jackson Circuit Court
LC No. 99-096108-AA.

Both state and federal constitutions prohibit taking of
5

private property for public use without just compensation –  U.S.
Constitution, Amendment V, and Michigan Constitution 1963,
Article 10 §2.  The U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that the
government effectively “takes” a person’s property by

overburdening that property with regulations.  Pennsylvania Coal

Co. v. Mahon, 260 US 393, 415; 43 S Ct 158; 67 L Ed 2d 322 (1922).

See also K & K Construction, Inc. v. Department of Natural Resources,

456 Mich 570, 576; 575 NW2d 531 (1998);  Lucas v. South Carolina

Coastal Council, 505 US 1003, 1015; 112 S Ct 2886; 120 L Ed 2d 798

(1992);  Penn Central Transportation Co. v. New York City, 438 US 104;

98 S Ct 2646; 57 L Ed 2d 631 (1978);  Adams Outdoor Advertising v.

City of East Lansing (after remand), 463 Mich 17, 23-24; 614 NW2d

634 (2000);  Palazzolo v. Rhode Island, 533 US 606; 121 S Ct 2448,

2457; 150 L Ed 2d 592 (2001); Loveladies Harbor Inc. v. United States,

28 F3d 1171 (1994);  Creppel v. United States, 41 F3d 627 (1994); 

Good v. United States, 189 F3d 1355 (1999); Lingle v. Chevron USA, Inc.,
125 S.Ct. 2074 (2005).

U.S. Constitution, Amendment IV.
6

People v. Llewellyn, 401 Mich 314, 257 NW2d 902 (1977).
7

Section 11122 of Part 111 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended
8

(the hazardous waste part of Natural Resources and
Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.11121).  See also
M.C.L. 324.11122.

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 2 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



landfills and incinerators.  (It is probably9

acceptable to regulate fencing and haul
routes if included in the county solid waste
management plan.)

C. Local zoning cannot regulate utility
(power) lines.10

D. Local zoning cannot regulate wind energy
power transmission lines  within Primary11

and other Wind Energy Resource Zones
established by order of the Michigan
Public Service Commission, if a Expedited
Siting Certificate for a transmission line is
issued to a public utility by the Public
Service Commission.  Wind Energy
Resource Zones do not include areas zoned
residential at the time of the designation.

E. Local zoning cannot regulate pipelines that
are regulated by the Michigan Public
Service Commission.12

F. Local zoning (and state and local
government) cannot regulate railroads,  13

G. Local zoning cannot regulate state prisons
and public correctional facilities1 4

including halfway houses.  Private15

facilities can be regulated.
H. Township and county zoning cannot

regulate oil and gas wells, exploration, and
operation of the wellhead site  (but it can16

be regulated off-site.)  An exception is that
this regulation can occur if zoning is for a
designated “natural river.”17

I. Local zoning cannot regulate surface coal
mining and reclamation operations.   (See18

also “mining” on page 13.)  An exception is
that this regulation can occur if zoning is

Section 11538 of Part 115 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended
9

(the solid waste part of Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act M.C.L. 324.11538(8)).

Section 205(1) of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being
10

the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3205(1)); and
section 10 of Act 30 of 1955, as amended (the Electric
Transmission Line Certification Act, M.C.L. 460.570).   (This

footnote used to cite the following acts, each repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 1(2) of
P.A. 183 of 1943, as amended (the County Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.201(2)); and section
1(2) of P.A. 184 of 1943, as amended (the Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.271(2));
section 1(3) of P.A. 207 of 1921, as amended (the City and Village Zoning Act, M.C.L.
125.581(2)).)

P.A. 295 of 2008, as amended, (being the Clean,
11

Renewable, and Efficient Energy Act, M.C.L. 460.1001 et seq.).  In
particular see sections 143, 145(4), 147(1), 149(1), and 153(4) in
Part 4 of the act.

  The public service commission has the power and
12

jurisdiction to hear and pass upon all matters pertaining to,
necessary, or incident to the regulation of public utilities, except
for railroads and railroad companies.  (Some additional (non-
zoning) regulatory powers rest with cities.) Section 4 and 6 of
P.A. 3 of 1939, as amended, (being the Michigan Public Service
Commission Act, M.C.L. 460.4 and 460.6).  P.A. 3 of 1895, as
amended, (being the General Law Village Act, M.C.L. 67.1a).  P.A.
278 of 1909, as amended, (being the Home Rule Village Act,
M.C.L. 78.26a).  P. A. 215 of 1895, as amended, (Being the Fourth
Class City Act, M.C.L. 91.6).  P.A. 270 of 1909, as amended,
(being the Home Rule City Act, M.C.L. 117.5d).

Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act
13

of 1995, 49 U.S.C. § 10101 et seq.  P.A. 354 of 1993, as amended,

(being the Railroad Code of 1993, M.C.L. 462.131) and Wabash, St.

L. & P.R. Co. v. Illinois, 118 U.S. 557 (1886).

Section 4 of Chapter I of Act 232 of 1953, as amended
14

(Department of Corrections Act M.C.L. 791.204). Also M.C.L.
791.216. Noted exception is at 791.220g(7).

Dearden v. Detroit; Supreme Court of Michigan, 403
15

Mich. 257; 269 N.W.2d 139; 1978 Mich., August 30, 1978,
Decided.

Section 205(2) of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being
16

the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3205(2)); and
part 615 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended (the supervisor of wells
part of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act,

M.C.L. 324.61501 et. seq.).   (This footnote used to cite the following acts, each

repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 1(1) of P.A. 183 of 1943, as amended (the County
Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.201(1)); section 1(1) P.A. 184 of 1943, as amended (the Township
Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.271(1)).

Section 30508 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended (the
17

Natural Rivers part of the Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.30508).

Sec. 63504 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended (the surface
18

and underground coal mine reclamation part of the Natural
Resources and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L.
324.63504). However, section 63505 reads, “This part shall not
be construed as preempting a zoning ordinance enacted by a
local unit of government or impairing a land use plan adopted
pursuant to a law of this state by a local unit of government.”

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 3 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



for a designated natural river.19

J. State water pollution regulations occupy
the field for both point  and nonpoint20 21

sources of pollution.
K. Regulations about farms/farming  are22

severely restricted by the Right To Farm
Act: There is debate as to if one can, or
cannot  restrict farming to certain zoning
districts.  Unpublished court rulings
suggest farms/farming must be allowed
anywhere.  Others suggest those cases
were dealing with nonconforming farm
uses.  Michigan Department of Agriculture
takes the position a community can allow,
or not allow farm/farming in various
zoning districts.  If farm/farming is
allowed, then all types of farms must be
allowed.  A community cannot pick and
choose what types of farms are allowed.

Local zoning of agriculture cannot
extend, revise or conflict with provisions of
the Right to Farm Act or any generally
accepted agricultural and management
practices (GAAMPs) , including:23

i. Manure management and utilization.
ii. Pesticide utilization and pest control. 
iii.Nutrient utilization. 
iv. Care of farm animals. 
v. Cranberry production. 
vi. Site selection and odor control for new

and expanding livestock production
facilities.

vii. Irrigation water use.
viii. Farm Markets24

Basic rule of thumb is if the topic is covered
in the Right to Farm Act or in a GAAMP,
then that topic is off limits for local

Section 30508 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended (the
19

natural rivers part of the Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.30508).

Section 3133 of Part 31 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended
20

(the water resources (point source) part of the Natural
Resources and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L.

324.3133(1)) and upheld by City of Brighton and Department of

Environmental Quality v. Township of Hamburg, 260 Mich.App. 345
(2004), Livingston Circuit Court LC No. 00-017695-CH.

Section 8328(1) of Part 83 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as
21

amended (the general non-point source pollution control part of
the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act,
M.C.L. 324.8328(1)).

Farm means any activity that produces a farm product
22

via a farm operation which is commercial, as defined in the Right To
Farm Act, M.C.L. 286.472.  (There is no minimum amount of

commercial required, and farm operation does not have to be within
what one commonly thinks of as a traditional farm.)

Section 4(6) of Act 93 of 1981, as amended (the
23

Michigan Right to Farm Act, M.C.L. 286.474(6)) and respective
Michigan Department of Agriculture adopted generally accepted

(continued...)

(...continued)
23

agricultural and management practices (GAAMPs).

The GAAMP sets forth that a farm market is an "area"
24

where transactions between a farm market operator and
customers take place (not necessarily but might be a building). 
At least 50 percent of the products marketed/offered for sale
(measured over a five year timeframe) must be from the affiliated
farm.  The "50 percent" is measured by use of floor space.

The farm market must be "affiliated" with a farm,
meaning a farm under the same ownership or control (e.g.
leased) as the farm market, but does not have to be located on the
same property where the farm production occurs. The market
must be located on land where local land use zoning allows for
agriculture and its related activities.

Marketing is part of a farm market, and can include
Community Supported Agriculture (CSA), U-Pick operations
(also known as pick your own (PYO)), and associated activities
and services to attract and entertain customers (e.g., cooking
demonstrations, corn mazes, tours, fishing pond, hay rides,
horseback riding, petting farms, picnic areas, etcetera (a much
longer list is in the GAAMP)).  Services to attract and entertain
customers are subject to local zoning ordinances, state, federal
laws, and associated rules and regulations.

If in a building/structure, the structure must comply
with the Stille-Derosset-Hale Single State Construction Code

Act (MCL 125.1501 et seq.) and placement of the structure shall
comply with local zoning, including set-backs from property
lines and right-of-ways.  Parking may be on grass, gravel, or
pavement; one vehicle parking space for every 200 sq. ft. of
interior retail space or 1,000 sq. ft. of outdoor activity space. 
Driveways must have an Michigan Department of
Transportation (MDOT), county road commission, or
village/city street agency permits.  Signs outside the farm market
must comply with sign regulations of MDOT, and all applicable
local regulations.  External lighting must comply with all
applicable local, state, and federal regulations for lighting outside
the farm market.

All details in the GAAMP are not covered, above.  See
also Section 2(b)(i) of Act 93 of 1981, as amended, (the Michigan
Right to Farm Act, M.C.L. 286.472(b)(i)).

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 4 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



regulation.  See more detailed materials on
this topic at www.msue.msu.edu/lu.

If a local government submits its
ordinance on farm/agriculture, showing
that adverse effects on the environment or
public health will exist within the local
government without the ordinance, to the
Michigan Department of Agriculture and
the Michigan Agricultural Commission
approves the ordinance then those local
regulations may apply.25

L. State fertilizer regulations occupy the
field.26

M. Local zoning cannot regulate uses on state-
owned land on Mackinac Island under the
control of the Mackinac Island Park
Authority. (Furthermore, all buildings in
the city of Mackinac Island are subject to
design review and approval by the city
architect.)27

N. State Fairgrounds are under the
jurisdiction of the State Exposition and
Fairgrounds Council, one in Detroit and
one in the Upper Peninsula.28

O. Local zoning cannot regulate trails that
have received Natural Resources
Commission designation as a “Michigan
trailway”  and snowmobile trails which29

are subject to the Snowmobile Act.30

P. Local zoning cannot regulate any part of
the Michigan State Police radio
communication system.31

Q. Local zoning cannot regulate state-owned
or leased armories and accessory buildings,
military warehouses, arsenals and storage
facilities for military equipment, and the
land for military uses.32

R. Local zoning cannot regulate U.S. nuclear
power  facilities and military facilities.33 34

S. Activities of a federally recognized Native
American (Indian) tribal government
within trust lands or within “Indian
country” are not subject to local zoning.
(Tribal zoning, if any, does have
jurisdiction.)35

Section 4(7) of Act 93 of 1981, as amended (the
25

Michigan Right to Farm Act, M.C.L. 286.474(7)).

Section 8517(1) of Part 85 of Act 451 of 1994, as
26

amended (the fertilizer part of the Natural Resources and
Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.8517.

Section 76504(2) of Part 76 of Act 451 of 1994, as
27

amended (Mackinac Island State Park part of Natural Resources
and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L.324.76504(2)).

P.A. 361 of 1978, as amended (the Michigan
28

Exposition and Fairgrounds Act, M.C.L. 285.161 et. seq.) and City

of Detroit v. State of Michigan, 626 Mich.App. 542 (2004), Wayne
Circuit Court LC No. 00-021062-CE.

Section 82101 et seq.  of Part 821 of Act 451 of 1994, as
29

amended (Snowmobiles part of Natural Resources and

Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L.. §§ 324.72101; Township of

Bingham v. RLTD Railroad Corp., 463 Mich. 634,  624 N.W.2d 725
(continued...)

(...continued)
29

(2001).  (See also part 721, section 72103 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as
amended (the Michigan trailways part of the Natural Resources
and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.72103) and
section 10 of P.A. 295 of 1976, as amended (the State
Transportation Preservation Act of 1976, M.C.L. 474.60)).

M.C.L. 324.82101 et seq. and Chocolay Charter Township
30

v Department of Natural Resources, no. 246171 (Mich. App., October
28, 2003) (unpublished).

P.A. 152 of 1929, as amended (the Michigan State
31

Police Radio Broadcasting Stations Act, M.C.L. 28.281 et. seq.).

Section 380 of chapter 6 of P.A. 150 of 1967, as
32

amended (the armories and reservations chapter of the Michigan
Military Act, M.C.L. 32.780).

Title 42, Chapter 23 of the United States Code (42
33

USC Chap. 23); Atomic Energy Act of 1954, 68 Stat 919 (1954);
42 USC 2011); Michigan Attorney General Opinion No. 4073
(1962),  No. 4979 (1976).  According to Michigan Attorney
General Opinion No. 5948 (1981), the state can regulate
radioactive air pollution, including air pollution from nuclear
power plants, but cannot prohibit nuclear power plants or
nuclear waste disposal facilities within its boundaries.

Title 40, Chapter 12, Section 619(h) of the United
34

States Code (40 USC Sec. 619(h)).

Brendale v. Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakima
35

Indian Nation et al., 492 US 408 (1989) addressed zoning
jurisdiction in a checkerboarded ownership pattern area.  This
case was appealed.  The U.S. Supreme Court combined the case

(continued...)

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 5 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



T. Public Schools under the jurisdiction of the
Michigan superintendent of public
instruction are not subject to local
zoning.36

U. Certain public colleges and universities are
not subject to local zoning.37

V. A municipality that adopts a zoning
ordinance need not follow its own
ordinance.   The court case establishing38

this preemption is specifically interpreting
the City and Village Zoning Act, but the
language the court used suggests this
concept might also apply to a township or
county.  This preemption is only for a
government’s own zoning ordinance.  A
city, township, and village government
must comply with another government’s
zoning ordinance.39

W. County buildings owned and built/located
by a county board of commissioners is not
subject to zoning  in so much as the40

county has the power to determine “the
site of, remove, or to designate a new site
for a county building,” and to erect “the
necessary buildings for jails, clerks’ offices,
and other county buildings....”  A county’s41

power under the CCA “is limited to the
siting of county buildings.”  The court case
establishing this preemption involved a
county building and township zoning, but
the language used by the court suggests the
county is exempt from city and village
zoning as well.  Ancillary land uses
indispensable to the building’s normal use
(not other types of land uses) are also not

(...continued)
35

with others before hearing it.  The Supreme Court case, also

involving the Crow Tribe in Montana v. United States, 450 US 544

(1981), further modified the Brendale decision to say "fee" lands
and "trust" lands are different.  Trust lands are zoned by the

tribal Ogema (government).
The tribe also retains its zoning authority over non-

Indian members in portions of a reservation where only a few,
isolated parcels had been alienated and the tribe's power to
determine that area's essential character remains intact.   The
tribe does not have zoning authority within a reservation in an
area predominantly owned and populated by non-Indian
members because such an area has lost its character as an
exclusive tribal resource.  The issue becomes where the lines
--boundary-- for these areas are drawn.  Thus resolution of where
tribe or municipality jurisdiction exists is decided in court.

The court requires a case-by-case review to settle the
issue of zoning jurisdiction, arguing it is impossible to articulate
precise rules that will govern when tribal zoning or
municipal/county zoning has jurisdiction.

Charter Township of Northville et al. v. Northville Public
36

Schools 469 Mich 285, 666 N.W.2d 213 (2003).  Section 1263(3)
of Act 451 of 1976, as amended (the Revised School Code, M.C.L.
380.1263(3)). 

Article VIII Section 5 of the 1963 Michigan
37

Constitution; Article VIII Section 6 of the 1963 Michigan
Constitution; Section 5 of Act 151 of 1851, as amended (the
University of Michigan Act, M.C.L. 390.5); Sections 2 and 6 of
Act 269 of 1909, as amended (the Michigan State University Act,
M.C.L. 390.102 and 390.106); Section 5 of Act 183 of 1956, as
amended (the Wayne State University Act, M.C.L. 390.645));
Section 4 of Act 35 of 1970, as amended (the Oakland University
Act, M.C.L. 390.154); Section 2 of Act 70 of 1885, as amended (the
Michigan Technological University Act, M.C.L. 390.352);
Section 4 of Act 26 of 1969, as amended (the Lake Superior State
University Act, M.C.L. 390.394); Section 3 of Act 72 of 1857, as
amended (the Albion College Act, M.C.L. 390.703); Section 1 of
Act 278 of 1965, as amended (the Saginaw Valley State
University Act, M.C.L. 390.711); Section 2 of Act 95 of 1943, as
amended (the Hillsdale College Act, M.C.L. 390.732); Sections 1
and 2 of Territorial Laws of 1833, Vol. III (the Kalamazoo College
Act, M.C.L. 390.751 and 390.752); Section 3 of Act 114 of 1949, as
amended (the Ferris State University Act, M.C.L. 390.803);
Section 3 of Act 120 of 1960, as amended (the Grand Valley State
University Act, M.C.L. 390.843); Section 3 of P.A. 48 of 1963 (2nd

Ex. Sess.), as amended (the Central, Eastern, Northern and
(continued...)

(...continued)
37

Western Michigan Universities Act, M.C.L. 390.553).  See also

Marquette Co. v. Bd. of Control of Northern Michigan Univ., 111
Mich.App. 521, 314 N.W.2d 678 (1981).

Morrison et al. v. City of East Lansing, 255 Mich. App. 505
38

(2003).

Michigan Attorney General Opinion No. 6982 (1998).
39

Pittsfield Charter Township v. Washtenaw County and City of
40

Ann Arbor, 468 Mich 702, 664 N.W.2d 193 (2003).

Herman v. County of Berrien (Published No. 134097, June
41

18, 2008) Michigan Supreme Court.

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 6 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



subject to zoning.42

X. A local unit of government shall not
regulate underground storage tanks that is
inconsistent with the state statute and
rules, nor require a permit, license,
approval, inspection, or the payment of a
fee or tax for the installation, use, closure,
or removal of an underground storage tank
system.43

Y. A local unit of government shall not enact
or enforce an ordinance that regulates a
large quantity water withdrawal  (more44

than an average of 100,000 gallons of water
per day).

Z. A local unit of government cannot regulate
the ownership, registration, purchase, sale,
transfer, or possession of pistols or other
firearms.45

AA. Southeast Michigan Regional Transit
Authority public transit facilities and
public transportation system are exempt
from local zoning ordinances or regulations
which conflict with a coordination
directive issued by the Authority.46

3. Preemption, sort of
A. Local governments cannot implement

regulations that are more stringent than
those of the state for the interior design of
mobile (manufactured) home parks or
standards related to the business, sales,
and service practices of mobile home
dealers, mobile home installers and
repairers (unless the local regulation has
been approved by the Michigan
Manufactured Home Commission).47

B. Local government cannot regulate
activities of the U. S. government on land
owned by the federal government
(although privately-owned facilities leased
by the federal government can be
regulated). Federal government must
“consider” local regulations and follow
them to “the maximum extent feasible.” It
must also follow requirements for

Herman v. County of Berrien (Published No. 134097, June
42

18, 2008) Michigan Supreme Court.

Section 109, and 108(2) of Part 211 of P.A. 451 of 1994,
43

as amended, (being the Underground Storage Tanks part of the
Michigan Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act,
(M.C.L. 324.21109, M.C.L. 324.21108(2).)  However the DEQ may
delegate underground storage tanks to certain local
governments, M.C.L. 324.21102(7). Note: these sections are
repealed by act 451 of 1994, as amended, effective upon the
expiration of 12 months after part 215 becomes invalid pursuant
to section M.C.L. 324.21546 (3).

 Section 26 of Part 327 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended,
44

(being the Great Lakes Preservation part of the Michigan
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, (M.C.L.
324.32726) reads: “Except as authorized by the public health
code, 1978 PA 368, M.C.L. 333.1101 to 333.25211, a local unit of
government shall not enact or enforce an ordinance that
regulates a large quantity withdrawal. This section is not
intended to diminish or create any existing authority of
municipalities to require persons to connect to municipal water
supply systems as authorized by law.”

MCL 324.32701(p) defines “Large quantity withdrawal"
to mean “1 or more cumulative total withdrawals of over 100,000
gallons of water per day average in any consecutive 30-day
period that supply a common distribution system.”

MCL 123.1102 and Michigan Coalition for Responsible Gun
45

Owners v City of Ferndale ( 256 Mich App 401, 409-410; 662 NW2d
864 (2003), lv den 469 Mich 880 (2003))

A local unit of government shall not . . . enact or enforce
any ordinance or regulation pertaining to, or regulate in any

(continued...)

(...continued)
45

other manner the ownership, registration, purchase, sale,
transfer, transportation, or possession of pistols or other
firearms, ammunition for pistols or other firearms, or
components of pistols or other firearms, except as otherwise
provided by federal law or a law of this state. [MCL 123.1102;
emphasis added.] 

Section 205(1)(b) of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended,
46

(being the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3205(1)(b)
(effective March 27, 2013 at noon) and section 8(12) and section
15 of  the Regional Transit Authority Act, MCL _._8(12) and _._15
(P.A.387 of 2012).

Section 7 of Act 96 of 1987, as amended (the Mobile
47

Home Commission Act, M.C.L. 125.2307).  Also, a local
ordinance shall not be stricter than the manufacturer's
recommended mobile home setup and installation specifications,
or mobile home setup and installation standards promulgated by
the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development
pursuant to the National Manufactured Housing Construction
and Safety Standards Act of 1974, 42 U.S.C. 5401 to 5426.

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 7 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



landscaping, open space, minimum
distance, maximum height, historic
preservation and  esthetic qualities, but it
is not required to obtain a permit.   A48

federal instrumentality (where a federal
government function is being done by a
private entity) is also immune from any
state law or local regulation directly
inhibiting the purpose (and only its
purpose).49

C. Local governments cannot implement
regulations about nonferrous metallic
mineral mining (nonferrous metallic sulfide
deposits) that duplicate, contradict, or
conflict with part 632 of the Natural
Resources and Environmental Protection
Act.   And such regulations (concerning50

hours of operation and haul routes) shall
be reasonable in accommodating
customary nonferrous metallic mineral
mining operations.

D. Local zoning can regulate only certain
specific aspects of extraction (mining) of
natural resources (e.g., gravel, sand and
similar pits).   Zoning can not prevent51

extraction of natural resources unless “very
serious consequences”  would occur. 52

Regulations can include government’s
reasonable regulation of hours of operation,
blasting hours, noise levels, dust control
measures, and traffic (not preempted by
the nonferous metallic mineral mining part
of  the Natural  Resources  and
Environmental Protection Act ).  Such53

regulation shall be reasonable in
accommodating customary mining
operations.  Extraction of minerals
supercedes surface rights.  (Oil and gas and
coal mining can not be regulated, see 2H
and 2I.)  Further regulation of mineral
extraction might be acceptable if the
zoning is for a designated natural river.

E. Wireless communication antenna and
towers shall be a permitted use on any
property on existing support structures,
and in certain circumstances (larger
support structure) shall be a special use
permit (or the community may allow it as

Title 40, Chapter 12, Section 619 of the United States
48

Code (40 USC Sec. 619).
In carrying out its Federal functions, neither the United

States nor its agencies are subject to state or local regulations
absent a clear statutory waiver to the contrary.  This concept is
based upon the Supremacy Clause of the United States
Constitution which states, in part, that it and the laws of the
United States are the “supreme law of the land.” (U.S.
Constitution, Article VI, cl.2.)

It is a “seminal principal” of law that the United States
Constitution and the laws made pursuant to it are supreme. 

Hancock v. Train, 426 U.S. 167,178.  
“(I)t is of the very essence of supremacy to
remove all obstacles to its action within its own
sphere, and so to modify every power vested in
subordinate governments, as to exempt its own
operations from their own influence.”  

Hancock, 426 U.S. 167,178 (McCulloch v. Maryland, 4 Wheat. 316,426
(1819)).  Sovereign immunity means that where “Congress does
not affirmatively declare its instrumentalities or property subject
to regulation,” “the federal function must be left free” of

regulation.  Id. (Mayo v. United States, 319 U.S. 441, 447-48).

City of Detroit v. Ambassador Bridge Co. Michigan
49

Supreme Court (No. 132329, May 7, 2008);  United States v.

Michigan; and Name.Space, Inc. v. Network Solutions, Inc. (2nd Cir.). 

See also  Commodities Exp. Co. v. Detroit Int'l Bridge, U.S. Court of
Appeals Sixth Circuit No. 11-1758, September 24, 2012.

Part 632 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended, (being the
50

Nonferrous Metallic Mineral Mining part of the Michigan
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, (M.C.L.
324.63203(4).

See also Michigan Attorney General Opinion 7269,
(continued...)

(...continued)
50

September 27, 2012.

Section 205(3)-205(6) of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended,
51

(being the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3206(3)-
125.3205(6).

See also Michigan Attorney General Opinion 7269,
September 27, 2012.

See Silva v Ada Township, 416 Mich 153 (1982); American
52

Aggregates Corp v Highland Twp, 151 Mich. App. 37; and MCL
125.3205(5).

Part 632 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended, (being the
53

Nonferrous Metallic Mineral Mining part of the Michigan
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, (M.C.L.
324.63203(4).

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 8 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



a permitted use).54

F. A local unit of government is limited to
regulate fireworks sale, display, storage,
transportation or distribution which are
regulated under the Michigan Fireworks
Safety Act in a manner that is only
incidental.  But the Fireworks Safety Act55

leaves open the door to limited regulation
so long as that regulation does contravene
the state law and the local ordinance is
incidental because it applies its regulations
to any and all retail operations, and
fireworks sales are not treated any
differently than all other retail enterprises. 
A local unit of government may enact an
ordinance regulating the ignition,
discharge, and use of consumer fireworks,
but such ordinance cannot apply to the day
preceding, the day of, or the day after a
national holiday.  It may also be that local
ordinances cannot regulate novelties.56

4. If one use is permitted, others
must be, also
A. If land is zoned “residential” of a specified

density, then the ordinance must provide
for a cluster (open space) type of
development.57

B. In zoning districts where dwellings are

permitted, the ordinance must also allow:
i. Mobile homes.58

ii. State-licensed residential facilities for
six or fewer persons.59

iii.Home occupation for instruction in a
craft or fine art (e.g.. music lessons).60

iv. “Family day-care home” and “group
day-care home” (e.g., child daycare
facilities) in counties and townships.61

(Cities and villages can regulate these
by special use permit. )62

C. If land is zoned to allow farms, or farms are
allowed as a nonconforming use then a
biofuel production facility that produces
100,000 or less gallons of biofuel shall be a
permitted use on a farm subject to certain
conditions.  A biofuel production facility of
more than 100,000 but not more than
500,000 gallons of biofuel shall be a
possible special use on a farm subject to
certain conditions.63

Section 514 of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being the
54

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3514). 

Michigan Attorney General Opinion 7266 (June 12,
55

2012) and Section 7 of PA 256 of 2011 (being the Michigan
Fireworks Safety Act, M.C.L. 28.457).

Section 3 of PA 256 of 2011 (being the Michigan
56

Fireworks Safety Act, M.C.L. 28.453).  “Novelties” is defined in
M.C.L. 28.452(t) as the same as defined under 2001 APA
standard 87-1 (American Pyrotechnics Association of Bethesda,
Maryland), and toy paper caps/pistols, flitter sparklers, toy
noisemakers, toy snakes, etc. 

Section 506 of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being the
57

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3506).  (This footnote

used to cite the following acts, each repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 16h of P.A. 183
of 1943, as amended (the County Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.216h.); section 16h of P.A. 184
of 1943, as amended (the Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.286h.); and section 4f of
P.A. 207 of 1921, as amended (the City and Village Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.584f).)

Robinson Township v. Knoll, 410 Mich 310 (1981) and
58

Section 7(6) of Act 96 of 1987, as amended (the Mobile Home
Commission Act, M.C.L. 125.2307(6)).

Section 206 of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being
59

the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3206).  (This

footnote used to cite the following acts, each repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 16a of
P.A. 183 of 1943, as amended (the County Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.216a); section 16a. of
P.A. 184 of 1943, as amended (the Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.286a.); and section
3b of P.A. 207 of 1921, as amended (the City and Village Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.583b).)

Section 204 of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being
60

the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3204).  (This

footnote used to cite the following acts, each repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 1a of
P.A. 183 of 1943, as amended (the County Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.201a); section 1a. of
P.A. 184 of 1943, as amended (the Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.271a.); and section
3c of P.A. 207 of 1921, as amended (the City and Village Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.583c).)

Section 206(3) and 206(4) of P.A. 110 of 2006, as
61

amended, (being the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L.
125.3206(3) and 125.3206(4)).  (This footnote used to cite the following acts,

each repealed as of July 1, 2006: Section 16g of P.A. 183 of 1943, as amended (the County
Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.216g); and section 16g of P.A. 184 of 1943, as amended (the
Township Zoning Act, M.C.L. 125.286g).)

Section 206(5) of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being
62

the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3206(5)).

Section 513 of P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being the
63

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3513.

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 9 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



5. Can regulate but not prohibit
A. Signs can be regulated so long as the

regulation is not dependent on (does not
regulate) the content of the sign.   Also,64

sign regulation just for aesthetic purposes
can be problematic.65

C. Local zoning cannot limit religious
activities/land uses in any terms that differ
from those for other assemblies and
nonreligious activities/land uses, nor can
they interfere with religious activity.66

D. Adult entertainment or sexually oriented
businesses can be regulated but not totally
excluded.67

E. Zoning cannot prohibit satellite dishes  or68

cellular telephone towers , but it can69

regulate location (to a limited extent),
design, co-location, etc.

F. Televis ion recept i on antennas ,
multichannel multipoint distribution
service, or direct broadcast satellite
services which are or smaller than one
meter (39.37 inches), are subject to very
r e s t r i c t e d  r e g u l a t i o n  b y  l o c a l
municipalities. Local zoning must comply
with the act, and the FCC rules concerning
Over-the-Air Reception Devices.  Those
rules prohibits most zoning restrictions
that: (1) unreasonably delay or prevent
installation, maintenance or use; (2)
unreasonably increase the cost of
installation, maintenance or use; or (3)
preclude reception of an acceptable quality
signal.  70

G. Existing shooting ranges (gun clubs) can
continue after zoning is changed to
prohibit or further regulate the range.71

6. Can regulate but not less strictly
than the state
A. Local air pollution regulations must be at

least as strict as those of the state.72

U.S. Constitution, Amendment I.  Sign regulation for
64

“commercial speech” (an ad to propose a commercial

transaction): Bolger v. Youngs Drug Products Corp., 463 US 60, 66
(1983).  

Sign regulation for “noncommercial” speech (political

or ideological speech): Central Hodson Gas & Electric Corp. v, Public

Service Commission, 447 US 557 (1980).  
Regulations that relate only to “time, place or manner”

(e.g., regulations that are “content-neutral”) must meet court

rules set down in U.S. v. O’Brien, 391 US 367 (1968): (1) furthers an
important or substantial governmental interest, (2) is unrelated
to the suppression of speech, and (3) limits speech no more than
necessary to protect whatever 1  Amendment interests arest

involved.

St. Louis Gunning Advertising Co. v. City of St. Louis, 137 SW
65

929 (1911), appeal dismissed 231 US 761 (1913).  City of Passaic v.

Paterson Bill Posting, Advertising & Sign Co., 62 A. 267 (1905).

Title 42, Chapter 21C of the United States Code,
66

codification of Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons
Act of 2000 (PL 106-274).

Young v. American Mini Theaters, Inc., 427 US 50, 71, 96 S
67

Ct 2440, 49 L Ed 2d 310 (1976).

Title 47, Chapter 5, Subchapter III, Section 303(v) of
68

the United States Code (47 USC Sec. 303) and Federal
Communications Commission administrative rules (47 USC Sec.
210(c).

Title 47, Chapter 5, Subchapter III, Section 332(c)(7)
69

of the United States Code (47 USC Sec. 332(c)(7).  In particular,
as amended by H.R. 952 and H.R. 2834 of the 106  Congress, 1th st

(continued...)

(...continued)
69

session.  (See also section 251 of P.A. 179 of 1991, as amended (the
Michigan Telecommunications Act, M.C.L. 484.2251).   Note
that section 251 is repealed, effective December 31, 2005.)

Section 207 of Public Law 104-104 (Title 47, Chapter
70

5, Subchapter III, Part I, Section 303 of the United States Code
(47 USC Sec. 303), the Communications Act of 1934, as
amended); and rules adopted by  the Federal Communications
Commission (rule 47 C.F.R. Section 1.4000) on  Over-the-Air
Reception Devices (“OTARD”).

See also U.S. Federal Communications Commission
I n f o r m a t i o n  S h e e t  ( D e c .  2 0 0 7 ) ,
h t t p : / / w w w . f c c . g o v / m b / f a c t s / o t a r d . h t m l ,  a n d
http://www.hindmansanchez.com/docs/fcc_otard_rule_questi
ons_and_answers__05240652_.pdf .

Section 2a(1) of Act 269 of 1989, as amended (the
71

Sport Shooting Ranges Act, M.C.L. 691.1542a(1)).

Section 5542(1) of Part 55 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as
72

amended (the air pollution control part of the Natural Resources
(continued...)

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 10 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



B. Local zoning can not conflict with adopted
airport zoning.73

C. Regulation of Great Lakes shoreline high-
risk erosion areas is subject to approval
and oversight by the Michigan Department
of Environmental Quality.74

D. Designated sand dunes protection is
subject to approval and oversight by the
Michigan Department of Environmental
Quality.75

E. State natural rivers protection is subject to
approval and oversight by the Michigan

Department of Natural Resources.76

F. Local governments can regulate/protect
wetlands, but the local regulations cannot
deviate from the state’s definition of a
wetland, and the local parts of the zoning
ordinance must be approved by the 
Michigan Department of Environmental
Quality.77

G. Local regulation of floodplains cannot be
less strict than that of the state.78

H. Local regulation of soil erosion and
sedimentation cannot be less strict than
that of the state (or of counties
administering rules promulgated under
state statute).79

Appendix A.
COMMONLY BELIEVED TO BE EXEMPT FROM ZONING

Items subject to zoning
There are some prevailing misunderstandings

which have lead some to believe the following
activities are exempt, or not subject to zoning. 
However in fact these activities are subject to
zoning:
1. Michigan Department of Natural Resources

boat launches (and by extension other state
park and state forest land uses).

2. Private schools and other schools which are not
under the jurisdiction of the Michigan
superintendent of public instruction.

(...continued)
72

and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.5542(1)).
“(1) Nothing in this part or in any rule
promulgated under this part invalidates any
existing ordinance or regulation having
requirements equal to or greater than the
minimum applicable requirements of this part
or prevents any political subdivision from
adopting similar provisions if their
requirements are equal to or greater than the
minimum applicable requirements of this part. 

(2) When a political subdivision or enforcing
official of a political subdivision fails to enforce
properly the provisions of the political
subdivision's ordinances, laws, or regulations
that afford equal protection to the public as
provided in this part, the department, after
consultation with the local official or governing
body of the political subdivision, may take such
appropriate action as may be necessary for
enforcement of the applicable provisions of
this part. 

(3) The department shall counsel and advise
local units of government on the
administration of this part. The department
shall cooperate in the enforcement of this part
with local officials upon request.”

Section 18 of P.A. 23 of 1950 Extra Session, as
73

amended (the Airport Zoning Act, M.C.L. 259.448 et. seq.). 
(Section 15 (M.C.L. 259.445) provides for airport zoning to be a
part of local zoning.)

Part 321 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended (the
74

shorelands protection and management part of the Natural
Resources and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.32301).

Part 353 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended (the sand
75

dunes protection and management part of the Natural Resources
and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.35301).

Part 305 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended (the natural
76

rivers part of the Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.30501).

Part 303 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended (the wetlands
77

part of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act,
M.C.L. 324.30301) and Opinion of the Attorney General No. 6892
(March 5, 1996).

Part 301 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended (the inland
78

lakes and streams part of the Natural Resources and
Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.30501).

Part 91 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended (the soil
79

erosion and sedimentation control part of the Natural Resources

and Environmental Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.9101 et seq.).

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 11 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



Appendix B.
The following court case is instructive in

determining if a state statute preempts local zoning.
Court: Michigan Court of Appeals (Unpublished No. 248702)

Case Name: Salamey v. Dexter Twp. Zoning Bd. of

Appeals

Based on the plain language of MCL 324.21109 and the

ordinance, the court rejected plaintiff’s argument the

ordinance was preempted because it was in direct conflict

with Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act

(NREPA), and the court further held NREPA did not preempt

the ordinance by virtue of completely occupying the field the

ordinance attempted to regulate. 

Plaintiff appealed from the trial court’s order affirming the

zoning board of appeals’ (ZBA) decision denying plaintiff’s

request for a conditional use permit to operate a gas station in

an area zoned a “General Commercial District.” Plaintiff

contended NREPA preempted local regulation of the

installation and use of underground storage tanks (UST)

systems, and the ZBA’s decision was not supported by

competent, material, and substantial evidence. The court

concluded MCL 324.21109 neither expressly permits, nor

prohibits, operation of a gas station in a general commercial

district and the ordinance did not strictly regulate USTs –

rather, it promulgated rules for the operation of automobile

service stations. NREPA also did not preempt municipal

regulation under the facts presented when the record showed

various factors other than the installation of the UST system

were legitimate reasons for denial of the permit. In addition,

the court held the record demonstrated there was competent,

material, and substantial evidence supporting the denial of the

permit. Affirmed. 

Quoting, on the issue of state law preemption:
“State law preempts a municipal ordinance where

“1) the statute completely occupies the field that

ordinance attempts to regulate, or 2) the ordinance

directly conflicts with a state statute.” Michigan Coalition

for Responsible Gun Owners, supra, 256 Mich App 408,

quoting Rental Prop Owners Ass’n of Kent Co v Grand

Rapids, 455 Mich 246, 257; 566 NW2d 514 (1997). 

Regarding the second method of preemption set forth

above, our Supreme Court has held that “[a] direct

conflict exists . . . when the ordinance permits what the

statute prohibits or the ordinance prohibits what the

statute permits.”  People v Llewellyn (City of East Detroit v

Llewellyn), 401 Mich 314, 322 n 4; 257 NW2d 902

(1977). 

“According to MCL 324.21109(3) of NREPA, a

local unit of government “shall not enact or enforce a

provision of an ordinance that requires a permit, . . .

[or] approval . . . for the installation, use, closure, or

removal of an underground storage tank system.” The

act further provides that a local unit of government

“shall not enact or enforce a provision of an ordinance

that is inconsistent with this part or rules promulgated

under this part.” M.C.L. 324.21109(2). Under the

township zoning ordinance at issue in the instant case,

Section 13.01(D)(5), Art XIII of the Dexter Township

zoning ordinance requires a special approval use permit

in order for the ZBA to permit an “automobile service

station” in a general commercial district.

“Plaintiff contends that, because the township

zoning ordinance requires plaintiff to obtain a special

approval use permit in order to operate a gas station,

i.e., a facility with an underground storage tank system,

NREPA preempts that section of the zoning

ordinance. This argument is not persuasive in light of

the plain language of MCL 324.21109 1 and the plain

language of the ordinance. Clearly, M.C.L. 324.21109

of NREPA neither expressly permits nor prohibits the

operation of a gas station in a general commercial

district. And, Section 13.01(D)(5), Art XIII of the

Dexter Township zoning ordinance does not strictly

regulate underground storage tanks, but rather

promulgates rules for the operation of an automobile

service station.

....

“Our Supreme Court set forth four guidelines to

aid courts in determining whether a statute occupies

the field of regulation:

First, where the state law expressly provides that

the state’s authority to regulate in a specified

area of the law is to be exclusive, there is no

doubt that municipal regulation is pre-

empted.

Second, preemption of a field of regulation may

be implied upon an examination of legislative

history.

Third, the pervasiveness of the state regulatory

scheme may support a finding of preemption.

While the pervasiveness of the state

regulatory scheme is not generally sufficient

by itself to infer preemption, it is a factor

which should be considered as evidence of

preemption. 

Fourth, the nature of the regulated subject

matter may demand exclusive state regulation

to achieve the uniformity may demand

exclusive state regulation to achieve the

uniformity necessary to serve the state’s

purpose or interest.” 

[Llewellyn, supra, 401 Mich 323-324 (citations omitted).]

Full Text Opinion:
http://www.michbar.org/opinions/appeals/2004/120204/25398.
pdf

See also Attorney General Opinion 7266 (June 12,
2012):
http://www.ag.state.mi.us/opinion/datafiles/2010s/op10345.htm

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 12 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



Appendix C.
Note.  This Land Use Series is regularly updated.  The first

edition was prepared May 16, 2002.  Subsequent updates include:
• June 23, 2003; July 14, 2003; August 5, 2003; January 21,

2004:

• County buildings, Pittsfield Charter Township v.

Washtenaw County and City of Ann Arbor, 468 Mich 702,
664 N.W.2d 193 (2003)

• Follow one’s own ordinance, Morrison et al. v. City of

East Lansing, 255 Mich. App. 505 (2003).

• Public schools, Charter Township of Northville et al. v.

Northville Public Schools 469 Mich 285, 666 N.W.2d 213
(2003).

• State fair, City of Detroit v. State of Michigan, 626
Mich.App. 542 (2004), Wayne Circuit Court LC No.
00-021062-CE.

• December 6, 2005:

• Takings, Lingle v. Chevron USA, Inc., 125 S.Ct. 2074
(2005), and 

• repeal of section 251 of the Michigan
Telecommunications Act, M.C.L. 484.2251) effective
December 31, 2005.

• Water pollution, City of Brighton and Department of

Environmental Quality v. Township of Hamburg, 260
Mich.App. 345 (2004), Livingston Circuit Court LC
No. 00-017695-CH.

• April 24, 2006: P.A. 110 of 2006, as amended, (being the

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, M.C.L. 125.3101 et seq.
• June 26, 2006:  Section 109, and 108(2) of Part 211 of P.A. 451

of 1994, as amended, (being the Underground Storage Tanks
part of the Michigan Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act, (M.C.L. 324.21109, M.C.L. 324.21108(2).)

• January 8, 2007: Large quantity water withdrawal added: 
Section 26 of Part 327 of P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended,
(being the Great Lakes Preservation part of the Michigan
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act,
(M.C.L. 324.32726), effective February 28, 2006. 

• May 2, 2007: Added Herman v. County of Berrien ((Published
No. 273021, April 26, 2007) ___ Mich ___, ___ N.W.2d ___
(2007)) to footnote on county building exception from
zoning.

• June 28, 2007: Added information on zoning regulation of
railroads.

• January 30, 2008: Added information on snowmobile trails.
• April 9, 2008: To remove: 

‘4.C. If a county zones an area “business,”
“commercial,” “industrial,” “manufacturing,”
“service” or similar (or the area is not zoned),
then it must allow billboards along state
highways.’

as a result of P.A. 93 of 2008 amendment to P.A. 106 of 1972,
as amended, (being the Highway Advertising Act of 1972,

M.C.L. 252.301 et. seq.) which provide counties the authority
to regulate billboards.

• May 14, 2008: Added “Federal Instrumentality”; Case Name:

City of Detroit v. Ambassador Bridge Co. Michigan Supreme

Court (No. 132329, May 7, 2008); and added “Kyser v. Kasson

Twp., Michigan Court of Appeals (Published No. 272516 and
No. 273964, May 6, 2008).” to the footnote on gravel/sand
mining.

• June 26, 2008: Added more detail about county building

exemption from zoning as a result of Herman v. County of

Berrien (Published No. 134097, June 18, 2008) Michigan
Supreme Court.

• October 8, 2008: 
• added further discussion on federal supremacy

concerning zoning not having jurisdiction over federal
activities.

• added wind energy power transmission lines as a

result of M.C.L. 460.1001 et seq.
• December 10, 2008:

• added farm market discussion.
• television reception antennas
• Added Appendix A. List of items which are subject to

zoning, but confusions results in some believing the
land use is exempt from zoning.

• February 11, 2009: Added appendix B.
• April 3, 2009: Added halfway houses operated by the

Michigan Department of Corrections.
• August 7, 2009: Moved “farming” from “Preemption, Sort of”

to “Outright Preemption” and revised text.
• January 18, 2010: Added “farm market” to list of GAAMPs.
• July 19, 2010: Removed from “5. Can Regulate, but Not

Prohibit” the following text:
Local zoning can regulate extraction (mining)
of natural resources (e.g., gravel, sand and
similar pits), but this does not include coal, oil
and gas.   Zoning can not prevent extraction of80

natural resources unless “very serious
consequences” would occur.  Regulations can
include time limits for mining and reclamation. 
Extraction of minerals supercedes surface
rights.  (Oil and gas and coal mining can not be
regulated, see 2H and 2I.)  Further regulation of
mineral extraction might be acceptable if the
zoning is for a designated natural river.81

This was removed as a result of Kyser v. Kasson Twp., July 15,
2010.82

• July 14, 2011: Added nonferrous metallic mineral mining

Certain Teed Products Corp. v. Paris Township, 351 Mich
80

434 (1958); Silva v. Ada Township and Ottawa Silica Company v.

Brownstown Township, 416 Mich 153, 330 NW2d 663 (1982); Kyser

v. Kasson Twp., Michigan Court of Appeals (Published No. 272516
and No. 273964, May 6, 2008).

Section 30508 of Act 451 of 1994, as amended (the
81

natural rivers part of the Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Act, M.C.L. 324.30508).

Michigan Supreme Court (No. 136680, 278 Mich.
82

App. 743, 755 N.W.2d 190, 2008 Mich. App. (2008), July 15,

2010)); Kyser v. Kasson Twp.

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 13 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



(nonferrous metallic sulfide deposits) to “Preempted, sort
of.”

• July 20, 2011: Added to “Preemption, Sort of” mining of

valuable natural resources which  reinstates the Silva v. Ada

Township “no serious consequences rule” along with
additional specifics in statute (PA 113 of 2011).

• August 1, 2011: Added “Biofuel production facility” (PA 97 of
2011).

• December 21, 2011: Editing changes.  Clarification of
jurisdiction over farms concerning the Right to Farm Act.

• May 9, 2012: Added “fireworks” and “novelties” to “outright
preemption.”

• May 29, 2012: Added “Wireless communications” to
preemption, sort of.

• June 14, 2012: 

• Added pistols and firearms.
• Relocated discussion on Fireworks to “Preempted,

Sort of” reflecting A.G. Opinion 7266 (June 12, 2012).
• October 31, 2012:

• Added Michigan Attorney General Opinion 7269,
September 27, 2012, to footnotes on mining.

• Added  Commodities Exp. Co. v. Detroit Int'l Bridge, U.S.
Court of Appeals Sixth Circuit No. 11-1758, September
24, 2012 to footnote on federal government
preemption.

• January 3, 2013: Added the southeast Michigan Regional
transit authority public transit facilities as exempt from
zoning.

• xxx

Restrictions on Zoning Authority Page 14 of 14

Michigan State University Extension Land Use Series January 3, 2013



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #20-10 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: August 13, 2020 

 Proposal: A rezoning in Summit Township 

Request 
The applicant proposes rezoning a portion of the subject property to ‘suburban residential (RS-2)’ from 
‘agricultural (AG-1)’. 

Purpose 
Partially rezoning to ‘RS-2’ will allow the enlargement of the residential lots located directly to the north 
along Floyd Avenue (see the Background Information).1 

Location and Size of the Property 
The subject property (ID# 000-13-25-101-012-00) has an area of approximately 29.4 acres in Section 25 
(T3S-R1W) of Summit Township (see Figure 1). The northern 110 feet of the parcel (west to the Bonnie 
Drive right-of-way), comprising approximately 2.3 acres, is proposed for rezoning 

Land Use and Zoning 
Current Land Use – The subject property is vacant (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). Properties to 
the north, southwest, and west are assessed residentially and the Grande Golf Club property to the east 
and southeast is assessed commercially (see Figure 2). 

Future Land Use – The Township’s master plan places the subject parcel and surrounding properties in 
an area recommended for ‘high-density residential’ uses (see Figure 3). 

Current Zoning – The subject property and adjacent properties to the east are zoned ‘agricultural (AG-
1)’. Properties to the north and west are zoned ‘suburban residential (RS-2)’ and the property to the 
south is zoned ‘planned residential (PR-1)’ (see Figure 4). 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 
Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal water and sewer services are available (see the attached 
Zoning Worksheet Form). 

Public Road/Street Access – Floyd Avenue, a paved county local road, provides access to the subject 
property from the Bonnie Drive right-of-way. 

Environmental Constraints –The Township did not identify any environmental constraints (see the 
attached Zoning Worksheet Form). 

                                                 
1 Please note that staff lists the proposed use for informational purposes only. Commissioners should not utilize it in making the 
rezoning decision. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the pro-
posed zoning designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 



CZC | #20-10 Page 2 
 

Analysis and Recommendation 
Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Summit Township Planning  Commission 
recommends approval of the proposed rezoning to ‘RS-2’ (see the attached Zoning Amendment Form 
and other background information). 

Staff Analysis – Summit Township has a Zoning Plan (an element of the Master Plan) which includes 
the following criteria upon which a rezoning request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

Yes. The Master Plan recommends ‘high-density residential’ uses along that stretch of Floyd Av-

enue (see Figure 2). 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

Yes. Properties to the north and west are already zoned ‘RS-2’. 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. The services provided in the general area should be sufficient to serve the area of the pro-

posed rezoning. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

Yes. The ‘RS-2’ zoning will simply allow for the enlargement of the residential properties located 

directly to the north. No other use of the approximately 2.3 acres is currently possible because it 
is landlocked. The applicant would need to extend the Bonnie Drive right-of-way southward to 
address that requirement. 

JCPC Staff Advisement – The proposed ‘suburban residential (RS-2)’ rezoning conforms to the Town-
ship’s future land use map and meets all of the criteria upon which a rezoning should be considered. 

Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Jackson County Planning 
Commission to recommend APPROVAL of the ‘suburban residential 
(RS-2)’ rezoning request to the Summit Township Board (see the 
staff report). 

Staff Report Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Summit Township 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 



CZC | #20-10 Page 3 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 
Figure 2 

Property Assessment 

 



CZC | #20-10 Page 4 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 
Figure 4 

Municipal Zoning 

 



CZC | #20-10 Page 5 
 

Figure 5a 

USDA Aerial Photo 

 
Figure 5b 

USDA Aerial Photo 

 



JCPC Case #:
(For JCPC Use Only) ZONING AMENDMENT FORM

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
(COORDINATING ZONING)

Return to: Jackson County Planning Commission •c/o Region 2 Planning Commission •120 W. Michigan Avenue •Jackson,Michigan 49201

Please submit the Planning Commission meeting minutes and any reports/exhibits the Commission used to makes its recommendation with thisform. Use
a separateformfor each proposed zoning change. Please include a legal description/ survey with rezoning requests in addition to the Parcel ID Number.
A copy of thisform with the JCPC recommendation will be mailed back to the Clerk, who will return a copy to the JCPC with the Township Board Action.

Summit TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION submits the following proposed zoning change to the JacksonTHE
County Planning Commission for its review, comment, and recommendation:
(ANSWER EITHER A or B)
A. DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGE (REZONING):

(Provide the legal and popular property descriptions, the Parcel ID Numberfs), the number of acres, and the section(s) in which the
property is located. Attach additional sheets if more space is needed. Attach a map showing all changes and additions.)
1269 Floyd Ave., 000-13-25-101-012-00 - Section 25 NW 1/4 29.4 Acres- Rezone the north 110ft. x 918.22 ft. or 2.32 Acres
to Suburban Residential

1. The above described property has a proposed zoning change FROM Agricultural
Suburban Residential

AG-1
RS-2 ) ZONE.

2. PURPOSE OF PROPOSED CHANGE: Allow additional property to be added to residential lots off Floyd
ZONE TO

B. ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT:
The following Article(s) and Section(s) is amended or altered: ARTICLE
The NEW SECTION reads as follows: (Attach additional sheets if more space is needed.)

SECTION

C. PUBLIC HEARING on the above amendment was held on: month
D. NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING was published/mailed on the following date: month

(Notice must be provided at leastfifteen days prior to the public hearing.)
E. THE NEWSPAPER (having general circulation in Township) carrying the NOTICE:

The PROPOSED ZONING AMENDMENT described herein was duly considered by the Township Planning Commission and will be
forwarded

^
to the Townstiip Board with a recommendation to PX[ APPROVE or Q DISAPPROVE.

Q Chair or [2f Secretary / ^1

21st. 2020day year
4th. 2020day year

Jackson Citizen Patriot

2020/*%/ / t• / (enter date)
/

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION (JCPC) ACTION:
1. Date of Meeting: month August 2020day 13 year

2. The JCPC herewith certifies receipt of the proposed amendment on the above date and:

I | Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change

I I Recommends DISAPPROVAL of the zoning change for the reasons stated in the attached letter.
I | Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change with comments, as stated in the attached letter.

Q Takes NO ACTION.
(enter date)j Recording Secretary

TOWNSHIP BOARD ACTION:
1. Date of Meeting: month September

Summit
day 22 2020year

Township Board herewith certifies that a legally constituted meeting held on the above date and that
the proposed amendment \̂ ] PASSED,Q DID NOT PASS, or was Q REFERRED ANEW to the Township Planning Commission.

2. The

Township Clerk
Revised:12/19/14



JCPC Case #: _____-_____ 
(For JCPC Use Only) REZONING WORKSHEET FORM 

 
 JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 

(COORDINATING ZONING) 
Return to: Jackson County Planning Commission ∙ c/o Region 2 Planning Commission ∙ 120 W. Michigan Avenue ∙ Jackson, Michigan 49201 

Please submit with the “Zoning Amendment Form” for a district boundary change (rezoning), not a text amendment. 

 
Township of:  ______________________________________  Township Case #:  _________________________________________  

Township official we may contact:  _______________________________________________  Phone #: ( _____ ) _____ - __________ 

Applicant: ____________________________________________________________________  Phone #: ( _____ ) _____ - __________ 

Rezoning Request: From: ______________________________ ( ______ ) To: ______________________________ ( ______ ) 

Property Location: Section(s): ____________________ Quarter Section(s):  NW  NE  SW  SE 

Legal Description and/or Survey Map/Tax Map (please attach)  Yes  No (Please do not use only the Parcel ID Number) 

Parcel Size (if more than one parcel, label “A” - “Z”):  ________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

Please attach location map  Yes  No 

What is the existing use of the site?  _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

What is the proposed use of the site?  _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

What are the surrounding uses (e.g.: agriculture, single-family residential, highway commercial, etc.)? 

 North:  _________________________________________________  South:   

 East:  _________________________________________________  West:   

What are the surrounding Zoning Districts? 

 North: ( ______ ) _________________________________________  South: ( ______ )   

 East: ( ______ ) _________________________________________  West: ( ______ )   

What is the suggested use of the site on the Township’s Land Use Plan map?  ____________________________________________________  

Is municipal water currently available?  Yes  No Will it be made available?  Yes  No If yes, when? _________________  

Is municipal sewer currently available?  Yes  No Will it be made available?  Yes  No If yes, when? _________________  

Does the site have access to a public street or road?  Yes  No If yes, name  _____________________________________________  

Are there any known environmental constraints on the site?  Yes  No 

 Wetland(s)  Floodplain(s)  Brownfield(s)  Soil(s)  Other (please specify)  ______________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

Please attach the minutes of the Planning Commission. 

 Yes, the minutes are attached.  No, the minutes are not attached. 

Please attach copies of any reports, exhibits or other documented provided to the Planning Commission. 

 Yes, copies of documentation are attached.  No, copies of documentation are not attached. 

Please attach any public comments, letters, or petitions. 

 Yes, public comments are attached.  No, public comments are not attached. 

 

Please include any additional information or comments as an attachment. 
 
Revised: 12/19/14 

Summit 20-06-0007
517 788 4113

James Oscar Little
AG-1 

Agricultural Suburban Residential RS-2

29.4

Vacant

Allow the rezoned area to be added to some existing homes on Floyd Ave.

Floyd Ave.

Type text here

Type text here

517 812 5009

25

000-13-25-101-012-00

Residential
Residential
Planned Residential and Recreational

Recreational-Golf Course

RS-2 Suburban Residential
RS-2 Suburban Residential
PR-1 Planned Residential

AG-1 Agricultural

1269 Floyd Ave.

John Worden, Zoning Administrator

in particular 1481 Floyd Ave.

High Density Residential



Summit Township Planning Commission 

July 21, 2020 

 

Members Present: Jack Shelby; Chairman, Todd Emmons, George Gancsos Jr., Robert Kendall, Mark 

Cesarz, Allan Hooper, Tom Biela, John Griffin 

 

Members Absent: Laurie Cunningham 

 

Staff Present: John Worden; Zoning Administrator, Gerald DeLuca 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The meeting was called to order by Jack Shelby at 6:00 p.m. via Go To Meeting video conference.   

 

A motion was made by John Griffin, supported by George Gancsos Jr. to approve the agenda.  The 

motion passed unanimously. 

 

A motion was made by Allan Hooper, supported by Tom Biela to approve the minutes of the February 18, 

2020 Planning Commission meeting.  The motion carried unanimously. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Case # 20-06-0007-Rezoning AG-1 to RS-2--North 2.32 Acres-1269 Floyd Ave-James Oscar Little 1481 

Floyd Ave.  Owner/Applicant 

 

John Worden presented the commission with an overview of the rezoning application.  Mr. Little is 

seeking to extend his lot and other the lots at the rear of the properties fronting Floyd Ave. and rezone 

2.32 acres to Suburban Residential (RS-2) from the 29.4 acres currently zoned Agricultural (AG-1) 

allowing the larger area to the south to be available for sale.  The chair asked John Worden about the 

process for a property split.  Mr. Worden responded it can be achieved administratively with the Township 

Assessing Department.   

 

The applicant was not present.   

 

Public Comment: None 

 

(All neighboring property owners were given notice of the rezoning request and the Planning Commission 

meeting to consider the request.  No letters from neighbors or interested parties were received by the 

Township.) 

 

A motion was made by Allan Hooper, supported by George Gancsos Jr. to recommend to the Township 

Board approval of the requested rezoning of 2.32 acres to Suburban Residential (RS-2) from the 29.4 

acres currently zoned Agricultural (AG-1). Motion carried unanimously. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Other Business:  None 

 

Public/Commission Members Comments: None 

 

The Meeting was adjourned at 6:30 p.m. by Jack Shelby, Chairman 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

___________________________________ 

John Griffin, acting secretary 

Summit Township Planning Commission 

 



SUMMIT TOWNSHIP ZONING APPLICATION
Print or Type
CASE # OD-D 6?

This application will not be processed if incomplete. **A11 required
materials must be submitted at least thirty (30) days prior to the next
Planning Commission meeting. Site Plans with all documentation
thirty (30) days prior to the next Planning Commission meeting.
Special Use Site Plans forty-five (45) days prior to the next Planning
Commission meeting.

/APPLICATION FOR
pLRezoning

Site Plan Review
Planned Developments
Special Land Use

\Q Admendments

Variance
Conditional Use **
Home Occupation
Site Plan Change/Renewal
Administrative Site Plan
Other

(D
All required materials must be submitted at least thirty (30)

days prior to the next Zoning Board of Appeals meeting.

APPLICANT INFORMATION (If different than owner, a letter of authorization from the owner must be attached)

Name(s)s> fiTy QJGA /£ CiXTC-t
Address /V^ M / * V<?Zip [

n&q -

Phone f y /7©

OWNER INFORMATION
Name(s) OPcd\R

f ¥ pj\ FẐ a/ tf ht/tf PV* ^rXO (
Phoned7£/'3

© Address
/ '

PROPERTY INFORMATION
^ yyj / ^ fO o IiUoo FL/CAddress or Location

Permanent Parcel # (p O <7 -13'-2C” / 0 ) "d / Z' D&
Zone District (Current) ^ 2 F ~T3PC PTcP Property Size /7£ ‘S
Attach legal description-also a survey, site drawing and pictures may be required.

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED USE/REQUEST (attach additional pages as needed)
(D -p o i £ t\ V o t e r i c i J al&elOT/LAA/D fo prrAttf My (\rVe

I hereby attest that the information on this application form is, to the best of my knowledge, true and accurate.

/
Signature of ApplicantSignature of Applicant

V
(6) / hereby grant permission for members of the Summit Township (Planning Commission) (Zoning Board of Appeals) (Township

Board) to enter the above described property (or as described in the attached) for the purpose of gathering information related to
this application. (Note to Applicant: This is optional and will not affect any decision on your application.)

fMX6 <Q V

Signature of Applicantignature of Applicant

DO NOT WRITE BELOW THIS LINE
Ooj t '2- j yn^ Application

Site plan0 # of copies 2 4 x 3 6 E l 1 1 x 1 70 CD/PDF [0
Site plan checklist0 Environmental checklist0 Pictures\ Video 0

Stake0 Morgage0
JCDOT0 JCDC0 JCHD0 DPW0 JCAP0 EGLE0 FIRE0

Meeting Dates: PCDate Received
(7) Submitted Materials: ZBA

CNTY
TWPBD

Survey:
Letters:
Application Fee O

Publication Dates
WEB

P Fee
APPLICATION ACCEPTED BY:

NOTE: Please attach all documents as required for each type of request and as listed on the attached sheets.
Publication and postage cost charged accordingly over and above filing fees.

Yellow Copy - ApplicantWhite Copy - Township



Certificate of Survey
Part of the NW 1/4 of

Sec. 25, T3S, R 1 W
Summit Twp., Jackson County, MICertified To:

James Little
1481 Floyd Avenue
Jackson, Ml 49201 Scale

1” = 200'
200’0

North 1/4 Corner
Sec. 25, T3S, R1W

(L— 9) Harrison Mon.
L1618, P1235

Northwest Corner
Sec. 25, T3S, R1W

(K — 9) Harrison Mon.
L1618, P1228 North Line Sec. 25

N89*33’38”E
2645.75’

Floyd Ave.
(66’ Wide)33.16’

188.85’ ^ 29.45’

CM
Q~ Birchwood Ext. # 1 ~

(Liber 18 of Plats, Page 35, JCR)
Lot Lot LotCD6 £

b ®

/124 25 27o
00 m—r-P

Barr
D Ll918.22’

N89*22’22’’E
ShedP.O.B. C/L Drive2.32± Acres

N918.05’
S89"22’22”W

S00'03’55”E
110.00’

N00‘09’12”W
110.00’

tj

23

§« joa .co 2 s Note
To Be Combined with

Lots 24 & 25-O o'
3 ^
^ &

§ £
W E

CM

- UJ
O s
(U o rncn ^ m Description as Surveyed:

A parcel of land in the Northwest 1/4 of Section 25, Town 3 South, Range 1 West,
Summit Township, Jackson County, Michigan, being more particularly described

<u 00 N
c O ^J O J DO ^
% ^

oq -
QJ

CD l --9$ as:-J

Commencing at the Northwest Corner of said Section 25, thence N89°33,38,,E
along the North Line of said section, 188.85 feet (recorded as 189.0 feet) to the
Northwest Corner of Birchwood Subdivision Extension #1 (Liber 18 of Plats, Page
35, Jackson County Records); thence S00°09l12"E 183.17 feet to the Southwest
Corner of said plat and to the Point of Beginning of this description; thence
N89°22'22"E along the South Line of said plat, 918.22 feet to the Southeast Corner
of Lot 27 of said plat; thence S00°03'55"E 110.00 feet;
S89°22'22"W 918.05 feet to the East Line of Birchwood Subdivision (Liber 16 of
Plats, Page 40, Jackson County Records); thence N00°09'12,,W along said East
Line, 110.00 feet to the Point of Beginning. Containing 2.32 acres, more or less.
Subject to all easements and restrictions, if any.

O
thence

West 1/4 Comer
Sec. 25, T3S, R1W

(K-10) Harrison Mon.
L1618, P1233

/%. Of SNLegend

^ Section Corner

Found Plat Monument
Note

All Dimensions are Measured
Unless Otherwise Noted \DAVID E.

ERICKSON
S Land Surveyor

c \
^.**
& : :#• Found Iron

% ® Set Rebar W/ Cap
"DEE 29245"

— Record

y (M) Measured

-is
Or SNo.

Basis of Bearings o
^ . 29245 ....SJy

S° LA NO C
cs
in State Plane Coordinate System

Michigan South Zone 2115
NAD85 2011 Geoid 12AUS

to

i (v -
z

SHERIDAN SURVEYING CO. ^—-U ' (/> 7/
910 Fifth Street Michigan Center, Ml 49254 m l̂̂
517—764— 0440 sheridansurveying.com

JOB # : 2020.4352
RSTDRAWN

PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR #29245
I HEREBY CERTIFY TO THE PARTY NAMED HEREON, THAT I HAVE SURVEYED THE PARCEL OF LAND
AS ABOVE SHOWN OR DESCRIBED ON 6-6-20 AND THAT THE RELATIVE POSITIONAL PRECISION IS
WITHIN LIMITS ACCEPTED BY THE PRACTICE OF PROFESSIONAL SURVEYING AND THAT THIS SURVEY
COMPLIES WITH ALL REQUIREMENTS OF P.A. 132 OF 1970, AS AMENDED.

6-8-20DATE
SCALE : 1" = 200*

PAGE : 1 OF 1



Remainder Description
Part of the NW 1/4 of

Sec. 25, T3S, R1 W
Summit Twp., Jackson County, MI

For:
James Little
1481 Floyd Avenue
Jackson, Ml 49201 N

Northwest Comer
Sec. 25, T3S, R1W

(K-9) Harrison Mon.
L1618, P1228

Floyd Ave.
(66' Wide)

North Line
Sec. 25

o~ Birchwood Ext . # 7 ~
(Liber 18 of Plats, Page 35, JCR)

.5
c
§O W E

CD

<u inc CM

Scale918.05'
N89'22’22”E

N00*03’55”W
110.00’IS 8

a (/) r = 5oo*
i s 300’0

N89‘22’22”E
215.98’d rO O'

^ 8»

o
O

IiI °
cq -

£
0)

§1JOa o

NoteLxJ-r Oo 00

r- M-
o T-
O

Remainder
27.46± Acres

A Boundary Survey is
Required for Exact LocationCD CMo *-

in cn
CM o
o oo

(/)

Basis of Bearings
z State Plane Coordinate System

Michigan South Zone 2113
NAD83 2011 Geoid 12AUS

LU 0
l ^O V-M- m

'co o6 H- ^4-o o
O M-P mo co
-1 ^ z

$cn 7O ^

<S)
N89*32’31”E
189.06’

South Line of
NW 1/4 of
NW 1/4 LLJ

*See Detail
P.O.B. 7

1324.16’
S89*35’09”W

N00*08’40”W
5.35’

'f / DAVID E. \ jp.%

^| ERICKSON » *
J Land Surveyor S

2 ctr-•P

tNbs

Detail
Not to Scale

Lot 1533’/ __
/ .«
I C CM

\
R/W \c\

*

No.\CMCharlene St. 29245ro
Lot A

o u o o O ®\ . o\ ^ 0
CO

1
\ /V 5.35’

PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR #29245Remainder Description:

A parcel of land in the Northwest 1/4 of Section 25, Town 3 South, Range 1 West, Summit Township, Jackson
County, Michigan, being more particularly described as:

Commencing at the Northwest Corner of said Section 25, thence S00o08'40"E along the West Line of said
section, 1318.31 feet (recorded as 1318.00 feet) to the Southwest Corner of Birchwood Subdivision (Liber 16 of
Plats, Page 40, Jackson County Records); thence N89°32,31"E 189.06 feet (recorded as 189 feet) to the
Southeast Corner of said plat; thence N00°09'12"W along the East Line of said plat, 1025.09 feet to a
point 110.00 feet S00°09'12/,E from the Southwest Corner of Birchwood Subdivision Extension #1 (Liber 18 of
Plats, Page 35, Jackson County Records); thence N89°22’22,,E 918.05 feet; thence N00°03'55"W 110.00 feet to
the Southeast Corner of Lot 27; thence N89°22'22,,E along the South Line of said plat, 215.98 feet to the East
Line of the Northwest 1/4 of said Northwest 1/4; thence S00°12'01"E along said East Line, 1144.80 feet to the

Q South Line of the Northwest 1/4 of said Northwest 1/4; thence S89°35'09"W along said South Line, 1324.16 feet
§ to the West Line of said section; thence N00°08'40"W along said West Line, 5.35 feet to the Point of

^ Beginning. Containing 27.46 acres,more or less.
z
y Subject to the rights of the public to Draper Road. Also to all easements and restrictions, if any.
L I-

JOB # : 2020.4352R (!l SHERIDAN SURVEYING CO.RSTDRAWN
6-8-20DATE Michigan Center, Ml 49254

sheridansurveying.com
910 Fifth Street
517-764-0440

SCALE : 1” = 300*

1 OF 1PAGE



SUMMIT TOWNSHIP 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
                      July 21, 2020- 6:00 P.M. 

 
1. Approval of the Agenda 

 

2.   Minutes – February 18, 2020 

 

3. Case#20-06-0007-Rezoning AG-1 to RS-2 –North 2.32 of 29.4 Acres -1269 Floyd Ave – 

James Oscar Little 1481 Floyd Ave. Owner/Applicant 

 

4. Other Business  

 

5. Public/Commission Members-Comments 

 

6. Adjourn 

 

  Attachments:    

 

  
 



Untitled Map 
Write a description for your map. 

Legend    

1481 Floyd Ave

100 ft

N
➤➤

N

© 2020 Google

© 2020 Google

© 2020 Google



                    

•* •.• ••• •

•••••;•/.:: s.V
* « •••••. » •* •••- ••••••

* « ••«
••. _ _ •••

SUMMIT TOWNSHIP
Jackson County, Michigan

FUTURE
LAND USE
LOW DENSITY
RESIDENTIAL

HIGH DENSITY
RESIDENTIAL



Case#20-06-0007-Rezoning AG-1 to RS-2- North 2.32
of 29.4 Acres-1269 Flovd Ave-J. Little Owner/ADDlicant

(|)



This page is intentionally blank. 



 

  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission 

 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

 

JACKSON COUNTY MASTER PLAN | 2020 EDITION 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: August 13, 2020 

 Proposal: Chapter and Appendix Updates 

Changes to Chapter 2, Chapter 3, and Appendix C are posted to the Jackson County Master Plan 
webpage on the JCPC website. The proposed changes to Chapters 2 and 3 are highlighted and 
new/amended maps are included in Appendix C. Full-sized copies of the maps are also available on the 
webpage dedicated to the master plan. 
 

http://www.region2planning.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Chapter_2_jacksoncounty2.pdf
http://www.region2planning.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Chapter_3_jacksoncounty-3.pdf
http://www.region2planning.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Appendix_C_jacksoncounty.pdf
http://www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/jcpc-jackson-county-master-plan/
http://www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/jcpc-jackson-county-master-plan/
http://www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/

